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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET
("GEM") OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “"EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
companies to which a higher investment risk may be attached
than other companies listed on the Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in
such companies and should make the decision to invest only
after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and
other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited
to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there
is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible
to high market volatility than securities trade on the Main
Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid
market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Exchange take
no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from
or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Prosten
Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM
of the Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made
all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge
and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and
there are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company, | am pleased to present Annual Report
of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 to the
shareholders.

Revenue of the Group was HK$69.1 million, representing a drop of 37% from last year. Loss attributable to
equity holders was HK$6.8 million. Excluding the overall convertible bonds impact, it would have been
shown as HK$3.7 million.

The operating environment for the mobile internet industry turned unstable in the latter half of this
financial year, the Group’s wireless music search services business experienced an adverse impact, which
was caused by stringent regulation and governmental supervision on mobile internet in China. From a
longer-term perspective, we view any potential changes in business policies by telecom operators as a
healthy development in the fast moving telecommunication industry.

At present, wireless music service is one of the key and rapidly growing revenue lines of China Mobile’s
value-added business, by reference to the 2009 annual report of China Mobile, its revenue from value-
added services increased 16% over 2008 and contributed approximately 29% to its total operating
revenue. Besides, as per China Mobile’s first quarterly report of 2010, its number of wireless music users
reached approximately 433 million and the total customer base was around 539 million. Currently, the
Group has successfully built up an accumulated music search user base, which has already reached 220
million.

Looking forward, we are optimistic about the Company’s prospects. With our strong market position in the
wireless music search services industry and the tremendous opportunities brought by China’s healthy
economic growth, we are committed to further strengthening our core businesses and continue to
strengthen our leading position in the wireless music searching sector in China. The Group expects that the
scale of wireless music sector will be further expanded.

Following the completion of issue of shares by placement exercise, the Group’s financial and liquidity
positions were maintained at a stable and healthy level and the Directors therefore believe that the Group
has adequate financial resources to support its business objectives in the coming years.

I would like to take this opportunity to express our sincere gratitude to the support from all shareholders
and business partners. On particular note, | would like to thank Mr. Yip Heon Wai, Mr. Guan Ming Jie and
Mr. James T. Siano and acknowledge their significant contributions to the Group in the past years. | warmly
welcome Ms. Li Luyi to join the Group and become CEO on 3 February 2010. Besides, | would like to thank
the management and staff for their dedication, hard work and devotions to the Group.

Yip Heon Keung
Chairman

Hong Kong
21 June 2010
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Management Discussion and Analysis &2 B 51w &

Operating Results

Revenue, Cost of Sales, Gross Profit and Other Income and
Gains

During the year under review, as stringent regulation and supervision
on mobile internet was imposed in China, telecom operators
proactively acted in line with such supervision in their business policy
on the mobile value added industry, which negatively impacted the
development of certain value added businesses. Phased suspension
of WAP service charges of the mobile internet business and the
marketing of various businesses carried out by telecom operators
materially affected the overall mobile music value added business,
accordingly the revenue generated from the provision of music
related business has recorded an obvious downward trend. As the
Group proactively adopted effective measures from the beginning of
the industry, the adverse impact on its business was relatively slight
as a whole. Consolidated revenue for the year ended 31 March 2010
amounted to HK$69,141,000, decreased by HK$40,336,000 or 37%
compared to last year.

The Group’s cost of sales for the year ended 31 March 2010 amounted
to HK$16,073,000, decreased by HK$3,276,000 or 17% compared to
2009 mainly due to decrease in staff costs.

Gross profit for the year ended 31 March 2010 amounted to HK$53,068,000,
decreased by HK$37,060,000 or 41% compared to 2009. Gross profit
margin decreased from 82% in 2009 to 77% in 2010 because the
extent of decrease in revenue was larger than those in cost of sales.

Other income and gains increased by HK$1,913,000 to HK$4,331,000
in current year. It was mainly due to a fair value gain of equity
investments at fair value through profit or loss and a fair value gain on
an investment property.

Operating Expenses

Overall operating expenses including selling, administrative and other
expenses amounted to HK$64,108,000, decreased by HK$12,055,000
or 16% over last year. Selling expenses decreased by HK$6,702,000 or
27% to HK$17,995,000 compared to last year, it was mainly attributable
to reduction in promotion and marketing expenses. Administrative
expenses slightly decreased by HK$2,415,000 or 6% to HK$38,779,000,
it was mainly attributable to decrease in staff and related costs and share
option expenses. Other expenses decreased by HK$2,938,000 or 29%,
it was mainly due to the drop in research and development costs.
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Management Discussion and Analysis &2 @it R o4

Operating Results (continued)

Results for the year

The loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company
amounted to HK$6,805,000, as compared to a profit of HK$15,636,000
in 2009. When excluding the overall convertible bonds impact, the loss
attributable to equity holders would have been shown as HK$3,740,000.

Financial Position, Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing
Ratio

The total equity of the Group as at 31 March 2010 was HK$93,136,000
(2009: HK$59,736,000). The Group had net current assets of
HK$79,827,000 as at 31 March 2010 (2009: HK$43,879,000). The
Group’s current ratio (current assets over current liabilities), was
approximately 5.7 as at 31 March 2010 (2009: 1.7). The Group had
cash and cash equivalents of HK$70,558,000 as at 31 March 2010
(2009: HK$81,771,000). During the year under review, the Group
financed its operations mainly with its revenue from operations and
the net proceeds from the issue of ordinary shares. The Group adopts
to a prudent cash and financial management policy. In order to
achieve better cost control and minimize cost of funds, the Group’s
treasury activities are centralized and cash is generally placed in
deposits, denominated mostly in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars.
As at 31 March 2010, the gearing ratio of the Group (total
borrowings over total equity), was 0.2% (2009: 67 %).

Capital Structure

The shares of the Company were listed on GEM on 28 March 2000.
During the year under review, change of the Company’s capital
structure took place as mentioned in the paragraph headed “Placing
of New Shares under Special Mandate” of this section. The current
status of the convertible bonds is set out below.

Convertible Bonds

On 30 April 2007, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) with Tallmany Enterprises
Limited (“Tallmany”) and China Broadband Capital Partners, L.P.
(“CBC") for the issuance of five-year zero-coupon convertible bonds
(the “Convertible Bonds") in the principal amount of HK$28,800,000.

On 6 June 2007, the Convertible Bonds were issued by the Company
to Tallmany in the principal amount of HK$28,800,000 (the “Principal
Amount”) pursuant to the terms set out in the Deed Poll dated
6 June 2007 (the “CB Terms").
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Management Discussion and Analysis &2 B 51w &

Operating Results (continued)

Capital Structure (continued)

Convertible Bonds (continued)

The holder of the Convertible Bonds was granted the right to redeem
them before the maturity date on 5 June 2012 (the “Maturity Date”)
upon the occurrence of one (or more) of the events of default
defined in Clause 10 of the terms and conditions of the Convertible
Bonds (“Events of Default”). Under such terms, if one (or more) of
the Events of Default occurred, the holder of the Convertible Bonds
could by notice in writing to require the Company to redeem the
Convertible Bonds at 125% of the Principal Amount (the “Early
Redemption Amount”) whereupon the Early Redemption Amount
had to be paid within 10 days of such notice being given.

During the year ended 31 March 2009, early redemption of the
Convertible Bonds was demanded by Tallmany on the basis of an
alleged breach of the Subscription Agreement. On 10 March 2009,
Tallmany issued proceedings against the Company in respect of such
alleged breach (the “High Court Action”). Details of the proceedings
were provided in the Company’s annual report 2009 (pages 10 to 13)
published on the GEM website on 26 June 2009.

Subsequently, Tallmany filed an application for summary judgment
(the “Summary Judgment”). This application was heard in the High
Court on 18 September 2009.

On 20 October 2009, the High Court handed down judgment in
favour of Tallmany and ordered the Company to pay to Tallmany the
sum of HK$36,000,000 plus interest. Subsequently, steps were taken
by the Company (jointly with a co-defendant) to appeal against the
Summary Judgment (the “Appeal”).

In December 2009, the Company entered into a settlement agreement
(the "Settlement Agreement”) with Tallmany and CBC. Under the
Settlement Agreement, the Company agreed to pay to Tallmany on or
before 31 December 2009 HK$36,000,000 being the judgment sum
under the Summary Judgment, plus interest accrued at the judgment
rate from 10 March 2009 to the date of actual payment (the
“Settlement Amount”), as well as a sum of HK$1,650,000 in respect
of Tallmany’s legal costs against the Company arising from the High
Court Action and the Appeal (the “Legal Costs”). The Company
agreed to pay the Settlement Amount in full and final settlement of
the Company’s liabilities and obligations under the Summary
Judgment, the High Court Action, the Subscription Agreement and
the CB Terms. The Settlement Agreement further provided that the
Appeal by the Company as co-defendant be withdrawn.
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Management Discussion and Analysis &2 @it R o4

Operating Results (continued)

Capital Structure (continued)

Convertible Bonds (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the payment obligations of the
Company under the Settlement Agreement including the Settlement
Amount in the total amount of HK$38,324,000 together with the said
Legal Costs in the sum of HK$1,650,000 were paid and performed in
full. Pursuant to the terms of the Settlement Agreement, the High
Court made an order to, inter alia, formally dismiss the Company’s
Appeal on 22 January 2010.

Following the settlement of the Company’s above-mentioned
payment obligations, the Company’s liabilities and obligations under
the Summary Judgment, the High Court Action, the Subscription
Agreement and the CB Terms were fully and finally settled.
Accordingly, the liability and the derivative components of convertible
bonds which had been recognised as current liabilities were
derecognised. During the year ended 31 March 2010, a gain on
derecognition of convertible bonds of HK$5,446,000 and a fair value
loss on derivative component of convertible bonds of HK$1,654,000
were recognised in the consolidated income statement. In addition,
the interest and the Legal Costs of HK$3,974,000 in total were
charged to other expenses in the consolidated income statement for
the year ended 31 March 2010.

Placing of New Shares under Special Mandate

Pursuant to a placing agreement dated 2 December 2009,
150,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company were
issued under a special mandate at the price of HK$0.25 per share for
cash to a then independent third party (the “Placing”) who
subsequent to the Placing has become a substantial shareholder of
the Company.

The total of 150,000,000 placing shares represents approximately
25% of the Company’s issued share capital immediately before the
Placing (based on a total number of 600,055,000 ordinary shares)
and approximately 20% of the enlarged issued share capital of the
Company immediately after the Placing (based on a total number of
750,055,000 ordinary shares). The net proceeds from the Placing was
approximately HK$37 million. The Company will use such net
proceeds mainly for general working capital of the Group. The
Placing was completed on 30 December 2009.

Significant Investments and Disposal

There were no material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries by
the Company during the year under review.

Foreign Currency Exchange Exposure and Treasury Policies

As most of the Group’s trading transactions, monetary assets and
liabilities were denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars, the
impact of the foreign exchange exposure of the Group was minimal
and there was no significant adverse effect on normal operations. As
at 31 March 2010, no related hedges were made by the Group.
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Operating Results (continued)

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2010, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 March 2010, the Group had a total of 125 employees (2009:
166). The Group’s remuneration policy is basically determined by the
performance of individual employees and the market condition. In
addition to salaries and discretionary bonus, employee benefits
included medical scheme, pension contributions and share option
schemes.

Business Review

Focusing on wireless music industry, the Group has been optimizing
its wireless music search services and strengthening its partnership
with China Mobile. By the end of March 2010, the Group has
approximately accumulated 220 million mobile music search users.

Since second quarter of this financial year, the Group has concentrated
on enhancing and promoting its mobile internet music search services,
thus expanding its revenue from music services based on GPRS
(General Packet Radio Service) and TD-SCDMA (Time Division
Synchronous Code Division Multiple Access, hereinafter referred to as
“TD"). Revenue from MP3 ring tones and songs download have
increased significantly, with its proportion in the total revenue of the
Group from music increasing from 6% in the previous financial year
to 17% in the current financial year. In the fourth quarter of this
financial year, such proportion further increased to 24%. In the past
year, the proportion of revenue of the Group from MP3 ring tones
and songs download kept a sustained and steady growth, in line with
the growth of total ring tones and songs download of the wireless
music services of China Mobile, showing that the Group has enjoyed
a healthy growth in the wireless music market of China.

Looking into the future, the management is confident that the Group
will maintain a sustainable growth in its wireless music business. The
number of users of China Mobile has surged to 544 million by the
end of April 2010, with over 8 million TD users. In the year of 2009,
China Mobile generated revenue of over RMB 10 billion from its
wireless music business, which is expected to be further expanded in
the future. Wireless music search is sure to receive even more
popularity as the most convenient and precise way to obtain music
for wireless music users in China. The Group will strive to enhance
the accuracy of wireless music search and personalized
recommendation services, and enrich and deepen the context of
wireless music search services, in order to enhance user experience
and loyalty.
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B. Business Review (continued)

With the aim of further expanding its market share in the wireless
music industry, the Group will expand its coverage of wireless music
search services in the upcoming quarters. In addition to music search
services for music, songs, musician and lyrics that are already widely
popular among mobile music users, the Group will provide more
quality wireless music search services, including but not limited to
image, music news, music video and audio searching. Special
attention will be devoted to video and audio search services based on
3G networks. Chinese authorities have decided to proactively
promote “Three Network Convergence” at the beginning of 2010.
“Three Network Convergence” means telecom network, broadcast
TV network and internet can infiltrate and converge with each other
and are gradually integrated into a unified information and
communication network. Thanks to the gradual integration of the
three networks, there are increasing ways for users to obtain internet
application, thus creating tremendous business opportunities.
Meanwhile, such convergence will bring benefit to the Group’s
current user base with an integrated media interaction experience
that is totally different from the past.

As for marketing, along with the 2010 World Expo in Shanghai and
2010 South Africa World Cup, China Mobile will launch nationwide
marketing campaigns relating to its music services, which are expected
to last till mid October 2010. As one of the major items for marketing
in such campaigns, the Group’s wireless music search services will be
widely marketed by China Mobile and provincial telecom operators.
The management anticipates the Group’s wireless music search service
will become the beneficiary of such campaign effort.

With matured core searching technology and ever-growing capacity
for innovation, the Group plans to launch its own music search
services based on its existing hundreds of millions of mobile internet
music search users and intensive operational experiences. Such
services including “handset embedded music applications” based on
multi-platform design and mobile internet interactive music
community driven by music search.

In addition, we have made breakthroughs in and generated revenue
from data-mining based precise marketing solutions during the year.
We are in talks with various provincial telecom operators for future
partnerships. Precise marketing solutions are based on search services
for massive users, and can provide mobile users with more
personalized value added services.

Outlook

Looking forward, the management is optimistic about the prospect of
mobile value added service industry and wireless music industry in China.
The Group will endeavor to maintain its leading position and market shares
in wireless music search sector by accelerating its expansion in acquiring
free wireless music user while retaining its position in paid wireless music
user market. With the management works together in a concerted effort,
the Group believes it will overcome difficulties ahead from a position of
strength and confidence.
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Directors and Senior Management EE R SR EEfE

Executive Directors

Mr. Yip Heon Keung, aged 40, is the chairman of the Board and an
executive Director of the Company, in charge of the overall corporate
strategies and business development of the Group. He is also the
Compliance Officer, an authorised representative and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Yip is a graduate of
Program for Management Development from Harvard University and holds
a bachelor degree in electrical engineering from the University Wisconsin-
Madison, USA. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yip worked in a software-
consulting firm as a consultant in the USA. He has been with the Group
since October 1996. Mr. Yip is a son of Mr. Yip Seng Mun, the Group’s
former executive director and a brother of Mr. Yip Heon Ping, an existing
executive Director and Mr. Yip Heon Wai, the former Chairman of the Group.

Mr. Yip Heon Ping, aged 52, was appointed as an executive Director and
an authorised representative of the Company in August 2009. He is also a
founder of the Group, an executive Director of the Company from March
2000 to June 2007 and the general manager of the Group from December
1992 to March 2000, in charge of the Group’s overall management
function. Mr. Yip holds a bachelor's degree in electrical engineering from
lowa State University in the USA. Prior to joining the Group in 1992, Mr.
Yip worked for the China business in Hewlett Packard for 10 years. Mr. Yip
is a son of Mr. Yip Seng Mun, the Group’s former executive Director and a
brother of Mr. Yip Heon Keung, the Group’s existing Chairman and Mr. Yip
Heon Wai, the former Chairman of the Group.

Non-executive Directors

Dr. Xu Zhiming, aged 48, was appointed as a non-executive Director of
the Company in June 2007. Dr. Xu received a doctoral degree in Economics
from University of Manchester in England in 1993, a master degree in
Economics from China Academy of Social Sciences in 1986, and a bachelor
degree in Physics from Peking University in 1983. Dr. Xu is currently a
partner of CBC Partners, L.P. (“CBC"). From 2002 to 2005, Dr. Xu was a
senior advisor of Tom Group Limited and an executive director and chief
operating officer of Tom Online Inc. Dr. Xu has extensive experience in
investment banking and corporate management.

Mr. Zhang Ying, aged 35, was appointed as a non-executive Director of
the Company in June 2007. Mr. Zhang received a master degree in business
administration from China Europe International Business School in 2005
and a bachelor degree in finance from Tsinghua University in 1997. Mr.
Zhang is currently a partner of CBC. Prior to joining CBC, Mr. Zhang served
as the general manager of the capital market department of China Netcom
Group Corporation (Hong Kong) Limited, and the general manager of the
Operations Department and the Financing and M&A Department of China
Netcom Limited since July 2000. From August 1997 to June 2000, Mr.
Zhang was a consultant of McKinsey & Company.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Tse Yuet Ling, Justine, aged 39, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company in January 2005. She is also a
member of the Audit Committee and the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Ms. Tse graduated from the Northern lllinois
University, USA with a bachelor degree in Computer Science. Ms. Tse is
currently employed by a wholly-owned subsidiary of a prestigious bank in
Hong Kong. Prior to that, she had worked in the software application field
for more than 10 years.

Ms. Lai May Lun, aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company in March 2006. She is also a member of
the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company.
Ms. Lai graduated from the Chinese University of Hong Kong with a
bachelor degree in social science and a master degree in business
administration. Ms. Lai is currently a project manager of a China business
company in Hong Kong. Prior to that, she had been the administration
manager of a charitable foundation in Hong Kong. Further back, she had
worked for the Hong Kong Telecommunications Limited for more than 20
years and had extensive experience in various areas of telecommunications.

Senior Management

Ms. Li Luyi was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
in February 2010. She is responsible for overseeing the daily operations of
the Group. Ms. Li holds a bachelor’s degree in Investment Economics from
Shanghai Tongji University in Shanghai. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Li
served as the vice-president of KongZhong Corporation (“Kongzhong”,
NASDAQ: KONG) and the vice general manager of the wireless industry
department of TOM Online Inc. Ms. Li has very extensive experience in the
marketing, business development and wireless value added services especially
in the music-related services, and also has accumulated years of invaluable
experience in the operation and management of the telecommunications
industry in China.

Ms. Cheung Ka Yee joined the Group in 2002 and was appointed as the
Chief Financial Officer of the Company in 2005. She is responsible for
overseeing the financial operations of the Group. Ms. Cheung holds a
diploma in accountancy and a master degree in business administration
(Financial Services) from Hong Kong. She is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Cheung has extensive
experience in accounting, auditing, taxation and finance field.

Ms. Lo Oi Ling joined the Group in 2002 as the Company Secretary of the
Company, in charge of the Group’s overall company secretarial matters.
Ms. Lo holds a master degree in business administration from the United
Kingdom and is a member of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators and the Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries. Ms.
Lo has extensive experience in the company secretarial field.

BIAEPITES

WMBARLZt 9m R_TEERE—AEEEA
KRB ZEUERNTEE - BN ABEARABEZREZE
CRERFMEZEGER WAL TEEREZHILF
FFReE  ERREKSEELEM0 - P LB A
ﬁ BRES " RELBRTZ22EWNBAR - Elt 2
BRI ERER TIERI0F ©

BEMEL 60 R_TTZRF=ZAERZERAE
RAZBIUFATERE - FHRARARERZES
REWNEEGKRE - BRULTBEXERBTEPXKRE
EERMENBRTBURTIHERRRLEM -
REZTARNATE —HTBEEFERARZEBRZ
B AR BREREE -—HEERBIBITH
BIE-BRZA BEREBEMABRAAILIER
205 EEAEREE T mZLBRRES -

BREEE

FZR—L+T R ZTF_AEZFTALRRAE
EHITE - HEASERAEEZATLEE - T+
BELBRABASRELEHESLBMN - RIMAKXE
B2 TLTEHAEHREEE ([EHhE] - £H
METE T © KONG) Bl 48 & R TOMIE R B R A Bl 4%
EERBIRLE - FTLITEMBEE  EBERK
EREERKE(CERRSLEBNRY) AHLE
K% BIMEFEAEETENELEREEIAR
BTZFNEBELS -

Bat R-ZEZ_FMARER IR _-F
§£¢X§EE$ AZERUBE WRARESR

TEBZUBEE - REXEIHBEEEGHBEER
ITAER (SRR BELEM  TREEFFLR
SHAMAERBEEGHAMAGEREE - RLLTH

5 Bit BB ERERMIEIEBRESE -

E§ i R-ZFEZ_FENMAXRKERERRAFZ
RAME BEAEEZEROARAMEEEK -EX
ITRARFTIHERSRLIEN U RRBESFFW
ENRTTRAEBLAGREERAWERERE - EX
THERARMETEZERRES -

EENERRERAT —2—2558 1/



Report of the Directors EEEH &

The directors (the “Directors”) of Prosten Technology Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) are pleased to present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2010.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 15 to the
financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group's principal activities during the year.

Results and Dividends

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2010 and the state of affairs
of the Company and of the Group at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 45 to 120.

The board of directors (the “Board”) does not recommend the payment of
any dividend for the year ended 31 March 2010.

Summary Financial Information

The following is a summary of the published results and assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years.

RERBRBRERAR (AR EE ((HF) MR
ARSI HERARARAKERE T T
FEAS+—ALFEZEERAHRE -

EEER

ARARAZEIEXEBRREER - ZXEWBRRZ
TEXEBHBIANYBRRMEIS- FR A&H
ZEBXBHEEVESANE -

RERRE

AREBHE-_T-TE=A=1+—BHIFE2EE
MANRHEAEEEEB ZHBHRASNFEISBE
F120B 2 HEHRERA -

Exe (B2 ) TEERBE_Z—ZF=A
TBRUEFEREEMRES -

MBEERHEE

AEBEAENEMBEFECTEZEEREERE
BEWMEWNT :

Results E45
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1T—HLEE
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—2-28F “TTNF “TEN\F “TELE “BITAF
FET FET FET FET FET
Revenue gz 69,141 109,477 83,339 51,222 59,050
Profit/(loss) before tax Bt AT E (B 18) (3,035) 21,197 24,359 (34,769)  (27,454)
Income tax expense FfsfiAX (3,770) (5,561) 2,128 280 274
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable R 2A B zHHE A &S
to equity holders of the Company  F R & F/ (E518) (6,805) 15,636 26,487 (34,489)  (27,180)
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Summary Financial Information (continued)

Assets and Liabilities

Report of the Directors EEE &

MBEREE @)
HEERAME

As at 31 March

MR=B=+—H
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-TF —_TTNF ZTTN\F T LF _TTRF
FET FET AT FET FET
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE NEE 4,778 4,900 4,140 4,732 5,007
Investment property EME 2,797 1,888 2,408 — —
Deposits HkA — 1,253 222 2,274 503
Available-for-sale investments AHHBERE 796 796 786 757 738
Deferred tax assets EEFIAEE 4,990 8,377 10,600 — —
Current assets MBEE 96,912 108,018 85,116 13,170 43,006
Current liabilities mEAaE (17,085) (64,139) (65,937) (16,290) (29,097)
Non-current liabilities FrBasE (52) (1,357) — — —
Net assets BEEFE 93,136 59,736 37,335 4,643 20,157
Issued capital BEITRA 75,295 59,767 59,727 59,237 51,125
Reserves Gl 17,841 (31) (22,392) (54,594) (30,968)
93,136 59,736 37,335 4,643 20,157

Property, Plant and Equipment and Investment Property

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and the
investment property of the Group during the year are set out in notes 13
and 14 to the financial statements, respectively.

Convertible Bonds, Share Capital and Share Options

Details of movements in the convertible bonds, the Company’s share capital
and share options during the year are set out in notes 26, 27 and 28,
respectively, to the financial statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association (the “Articles of Association”) or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
to existing shareholders.

Purchase, Redemption or Sale of Listed Securities of the
Company

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, redeemed
or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

M BERRBURKREYE

REEYE BELRRBARREVERFRAZE
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TRRES RERBRE
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BEBEEE
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Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group
during the year are set out in note 29(b) to the financial statements and in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2010, the Company had no reserves available for
distribution as calculated in accordance with the Companies Law (2001
Revision) of the Cayman Islands. Under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium account is distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business. The
share premium account may also be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

Major Customers and Suppliers

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 98% of the total sales for the year and sales to the largest
customer included therein amounted to 77 %.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in
the Group’s five largest customers and/or five largest suppliers during the year.

Directors

The Directors of the Company who held office during the year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yip Heon Keung (Chairman)

Mr. Yip Heon Ping (appointed on 6 August 2009)
Mr. Yip Heon Wai (retired on 30 July 2009)

Mr. Guan Ming Jie (retired on 30 July 2009)

Non-executive Directors:

Dr. Xu Zhiming
Mr. Zhang Ying

Independent non-executive Directors:

Ms. Tse Yuet Ling, Justine
Ms. Lai May Lun

Mr. James T. Siano (resigned on 1 November 2009)
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Directors (continued)

In accordance with article 108 of the Articles of Association, Dr. Xu Zhiming
and Mr. Zhang Ying will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company (the “AGM").

Mr. Yip Heon Ping, appointed pursuant to article 112 of the Articles of
Association, will hold office until the AGM and, being eligible, will offer
himself for re-election at the AGM.

Independent Non-executive Directors’ Confirmations of
Independence

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the Rules Governing the Listing of the Securities on the Growth
Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "GEM
Listing Rules”). The Company considers all of its independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Mr. Yip Heon Keung, an executive Director, has entered into a Director’s
service contract with the Company for a term of one year commencing
from 1 April 2003 (the “Service Contract”) which was renewed
automatically each year for successive terms of one year subject to
termination by either party giving not less than three months’ notice in
writing to the other party. Pursuant to the supplemental agreement entered
into between Mr. Yip Heon Keung and the Company on 1 April 2007, the
terms of the Service Contract was extended for a fixed term of three years
from 1 April 2007 to 31 March 2010, subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election in accordance with the Articles of Association. On 1 April 2010,
Mr. Yip Heon Keung and the Company entered into a new supplemental
agreement to extend the terms of the Service Contract for three years from
1 April 2010 to 31 March 2013. Otherwise than as amended by the
supplemental agreements, all other provisions of the Service Contract
remain in full force and effect.

Mr. Yip Heon Ping, an executive Director, has entered into a Director’s
service contract with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from 6 August 2009 and is subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election in accordance with the Articles of Association.

Each of the non-executive Directors, Dr. Xu Zhiming and Mr. Zhang Ying,
was appointed for a fixed term of one year, commencing from 1 July 2007
which was renewed automatically each year for successive terms of one
year, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with
the Articles of Association.
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Directors’ Service Contracts (continued)

Ms. Tse Yuet Ling, Justine has renewed the letter of appointment with the
Company as an independent non-executive Director of the Company for a
term of one year commencing from 1 January 2010 and is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Articles of
Association.

Ms. Lai May Lun has renewed the letter of appointment with the Company
as an independent non-executive Director of the Company for a term of
one year commencing from 1 March 2010 and is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Articles of Association.

Apart from the foregoing, no Director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Remuneration

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference
to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

Except as detailed in note 32 to the financial statements, no Director had a
material beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of
significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Group were entered into or
existed during the year.
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Share Option Schemes

The Company operates two share option schemes (the “Schemes”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Further details of the
Schemes are disclosed in note 28 to the financial statements.

The following tables disclose movements in the Company’s share options
outstanding during the year:

The share option scheme became effective and commenced on 28 March
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2000 (the “Old Scheme”): ([E&t&1) :
Number of share options***
BRERE
Granted Exercised  Transferred Forfeited Date of Exercise period of  Exercise price of
Name or category At 1 April during during during during At 31 March re-grant of share options share options
of participant 2009 the year the year the year the year 2010 share options* re-granted re-granted**
SHE RIZENE RER RER RER RER RZB-2F B ERBRE ERBRE
ERAER MA—-B Riti Cix;3 HE ®EK =BA=+-8 ERAH ZITRBR ZATRE*
HK$ per share
BT (k)
Directors
=
Mr. Yip Heon Keung 5,300,000 — — — — 5,300,000 22 August 2001 22 August 2001 to 0.40
Hmgfkt —2T-F 21 August 2011
NAZ+Z=RH —ZZ2-57\A=+ZHZ
—Z2-——%/\A=t-H
Mr. Yip Heon Ping — — — 6,300,000 — 6,300,000 22 August 2001 22 August 2001 to 0.40
EETEE T 21 August 2011
NAZ+Z=H —2T-FN\AZt+ZRE
—2——%7\AZ+—-H
Mr. Yip Heon Waif 5,300,000 — — (5,300,000) — — 22 August 2001 22 August 2001 to 0.40
E30F S —ET- 21 August 2011
NA=Z+=H —2T-FN\AZ+ZRHE
“E——%7\A=+-H
10,600,000 — — 1,000,000 — 11,600,000
Other employees
of the Group
r&EE
Hittgg
In aggregate 14,765,000 — — (1,000,000) — 13,765,000 22 August 2001 22 August 2001 to 0.40
At “ET-F 21 August 2011
NRAZ+Z=H “ZF-FNA=+ZHZ
“E——%7\A=+-H
25,365,000 — — — — 25,365,000

EENEERERAT —E2-2558 23



Report of the Directors EEE 4%

Share Option Schemes (continued)

The share option scheme became effective and commenced on 23 April

2002 (the “New Scheme”):

Name or category
of participant
S80E
ERBAEG

Director

£

Mr. Guan Ming Jie
BN L

m

Other employees
of the Group
r5E

HitEg

In aggregate
At

In aggregate
At

In aggregate
At

In aggregate
At

In aggregate
At

In aggregate
ast

In aggregate
At

In aggregate
ast

Number of share options***

BRERE

RiREsTE ()
REEAHA-—TE-_FNA-+T=ARMABER

(T#ratd)) -

At 1 April
2009
R-ZENF
mA—H

5,000,000

Granted
during
the year
RER
R

Exercised  Transferred Forfeited
during during during
the year the year the year
RER RER RER
Eig:d i R

— (5,000,000) —

At 31 March

2010
R-B-ZF
ZA=t-H

5,000,000

800,000

1,650,000

7,380,000

1,500,000

2,500,000

4,000,000

8,000,000

500,000

- (5,000,000) —

(700,000) — —

(4,580,000) — —

— — (1,500,000)

— — (500,000)

— (2,000,000) —

— — (30,000)
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800,000

950,000

2,800,000

2,000,000

2,000,000

7,970,000

500,000

Date of
grant of
share options*
R
R A

3 April 2008
ZTTN\F
mA=A

22 May 2002

AA=+=H

26 March 2004
ZTTMEF
—A=+XH

10 May 2006
ZRERF
RA+H

23 November 2007
ZRTtF
+—A=t=H

2 January 2008
—REN\F
—AZH

3 April 2008
—TTN\F
mA=H

9 February 2010
—E2-%F

—ANB

11 March 2010
—F%F

=A+—8

Exercise period of
share options
granted
RHBRE
2R

3 April 2008 to

2 April 2018
“Z2T)\FWA=ZRE
—Z2-\fmAZH

22 May 2002 to

21 May 2012

Sk 51ty gl = Y
—Z2-—FRA-+—-H
26 March 2004 to

25 March 2014

—TTNF=A=F+X HEE
—Z-ME=A=+hA

10 May 2006 to
9 May 2016
AERATAE
—E-R"ERANA

23 November 2007 to
22 November 2017

“ETLF-A-+ZRE

T+t F+—-A=+ZH

2 January 2008 to

1 January 2018
“Z2EN\¥-A-RAE
—2-N\¥-A—-H

3 April 2008 to

2 April 2018
“ZREN\FWA=ZAE
—Z2-\fMAZH

9 February 2010 to

8 February 2020
—Z-ZE_ANRE
—Z-ZHE-ANR

11 March 2010 to

10 March 2020
F—TF=A+—RE
—R-ZF=A+H

Exercise price of

share options
granted**

RiEBRE
ZATIEE

HK$ per share

#r(8k)

0.410

0.260

0.100

0.170

0.878

0.600

0.410

0.660

0.610
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Share Option Schemes (continued) FEMRAERT 2l ()
The share option scheme became effective and commenced on 23 April B #:tEI8 - TT _FMWA -+ =HEMABEN
2002 (the “New Scheme"): (continued) (F#hatall) - (|)
Number of share options***
BREHE
Granted Exercised  Transferred Forfeited Date of Exercise period of  Exercise price of
Name or category At 1 April during during during during  At31March grant of share options share options
of participant 2009 the year the year the year the year 2010 share options* granted granted**
280E RZZBEAF RER RER RER RER R-F-THF R BEBRE REBRE
EBAER mA—H Riti 7 i ®EW =B=+-8 R A ZITRER ZiTEE
HK$ per share
B (8k)
Others
Hity
In aggregate 200,000 — — — — 200,000 26 March 2004 26 March 2004 to 0.100
Ch 3 Uik 25 March 2014
=ZAZ+XE s A=
—E-mF=A=1+HA
In aggregate 2,000,000 — — — — 2,000,000 24 June 2005 24 June 2005 to 0.100
At TR 23 June 2015
~NAZtmA “EERFRAZTHNAEZR
—Z-nER AZt=H
In aggregate 1,000,000 — — — — 1,000,000 29 June 2006 29 June 2006 to 0.380
At ZZITRX 28 June 2016
~AZthAE ZZERERAZTNRE
—E-REXAZTNR
In aggregate 5,000,000 — — — — 5,000,000 6 July 2007 1 October 2008 to 0.396
A&t ZRTtF 5 July 2017
+ARE —ZT)\F+A-HZ
-+t ARA
In aggregate 5,200,000 — — 7,000,000 — 12,200,000 3 April 2008 3 April 2008 to 0.410
At —ZEN\F 2 April 2018
MA=H —ZEN\FWNA=HZE
—Z-N\FMAZH
In aggregate 200,000 — — — — 200,000 3 June 2008 3 June 2008 to 0.417
At ke JA%:2 2 June 2018
~NA=ZH —ZTNFERAZRE
—2-\FRAZH
36,430,000 8,500,000 (5,280,000) — (2,030,000) 37,620,000
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Share Option Schemes (continued)
Notes to the tables of share options outstanding during the year:

*  The time of acceptance of the share options was within 21 days from the options
offer date. The share options granted are subject to certain vesting period and vary
for each category of participant as specified under the respective share option
schemes.

** The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or
bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

*** There were no options cancelled during the year.

* Mr. Yip Heon Wai has retired as a Director of the Company but remained as an

employee of the Group since 30 July 2009. Pursuant to the Old Scheme, he is still
entitled to his share options to subscribe for 5,300,000 shares of the Company in his
capacity as an employee of the Group.

##

Mr. Guan Ming Jie has retired as a Director of the Company on 30 July 2009 but his
share options to subscribe for 5,000,000 shares of the Company were extended one
year to 29 July 2010.

The Directors have estimated the values of the share options granted
during the year, calculated using the binomial model as at the date of grant
of the options:

Grantee A

Hipg 8

Other employees

The binomial model is a generally accepted method of valuing options. The
significant assumptions used in the calculation of the values of the share
options were risk-free interest rate, expected volatility, historical volatility,
and dividend yield. The measurement dates used in the valuation
calculations were the dates on which the options were granted.

The values of share options calculated using the binomial model are subject
to certain fundamental limitations, due to the subjective nature of and
uncertainty relating to a number of assumptions of the expected future
performance input to the model, and certain inherent limitations of the
model itself.

The value of an option varies with different variables of certain subjective
assumptions. Any change to the variables used may materially affect the
estimation of the fair value of an option.
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HK$
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions
in Shares and Underlying Shares

As at 31 March 2010, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
chief executive in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) which were notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as
follows:
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EFRIEMTHAERRG RAEMKRG Z#
mRIRE

RZBE-—ZTF=A=+—H BEFRIBTHAE
RARBREEMBEBRZEE(EERBFLHE
B ([ 3E 7 R EIE D)) BEXVER) 2 Bty R AR RE R )
THRAREBEESRMERIIEXVEBETRFSD BHA
HMEARAREABMARSMARAR (TBM])
ZRBEIAR (BREREES R EROIEREX
BREREFXRR/BEZREIAR) » IREAIFE
REMRANESABIE ETEITAERTETIESFRS
ARTRIEMNERAR LB A BEIORBAT ¢

\

e

D]

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company REARE]EBRZAE
Percentage of
the Company'’s
issued share
capital
Note (5)
Capacity and Number of EARAF
nature of interest ordinary shares 2RITRAE
Name of Director Notes FHR ZER Elidnd
EEns ih=g ERME 13 8B I 5E(5)
Mr. Yip Heon Keung 1 &((2) Interest of controlled corporations 398,432,619 52.91%

Emsg ks A N o

Mr. Yip Heon Ping (3) & (4) Object of a discretionary 298,432,619 39.63%

ERFEE

family trust and through

a controlled corporation
TRFRGETEIAEHR K
Pk s R ok N

Notes:

(1) Among these shares, an aggregate of 298,432,619 shares are held through
Greenford Company (PTC) Limited (“Greenford”), Century Technology Holding
(PTC) Limited (“Century”) and Bakersfield Global (PTC) Corporation (“Bakersfield”)
as trustees of The Greenford Unit Trust, The Century Unit Trust and The Bakersfield
Unit Trust, respectively. All the units of which are held by Ace Central Group (PTC)
Limited (“Ace Central”) as the trustee of The New Millennium Trust, a discretionary
family trust and Mr. Yip Heon Keung is the sole Director and sole shareholder of
Ace Central. 100,000,000 shares are held by Uniright Group Limited (“Uniright”)
and its entire issued capital is held by Mr. Yip Heon Keung and Mr. Yip Heon Wai, a
former Director of the Company, in equal shares. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Yip
Heon Keung is deemed to be interested in 298,432,619 shares of the Company
held by Ace Central and 100,000,000 shares of the Company held by Uniright,
respectively.

(1 RZER D F - & $£298432,619 % A% 15 H Greenford
Company (PTC) Limited ([ Greenford]) * Century
Technology Holding (PTC) Limited ([ Century|) X
Bakersfield Global (PTC) Corporation ([ Bakersfield |) % 5]
LAThe Greenford Unit Trust * The Century Unit Trust &
The Bakersfield Unit Trustz 2 sE A B O F5 B - % %
125 2 BT B ¥ {1 19 f Ace Central Group (PTC) Limited
(I'Ace Central ]) LAThe New Millennium Trust( — 8 2 #&
RIEEF) ZZEARTOREE - MEMELLEBAC
Central Z M — 2 % [ Mf — %5 ° 100,000,000 % A% {73
Uniright Group Limited ([Uniright]) #48 + H 2 2B &
TRABERBEERAARNEESTEMHLELE
LEEB - BEFHFRBERD - EmRLARR
%55 B Ace Central T 3% 48 /A 71298,432,6 19 A% A% 17 &
Uniright FiT#3 75 /2 & 100,000,000 A% % 17 7 i /A #E 25 ©

EENERRERAT —2-—2558 2/
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions
in Shares and Underlying Shares (continued)

Notes: (continued)

2) On 23 February 2010, Uniright, as a borrower, entered into a loan agreement (the
“Loan Agreement”) with Will City Limited, as a lender (“Will City"), for the
provision of a loan in the principal amount of HK$44,750,000 (the “Loan”). It was
agreed between the parties to the Loan Agreement that upon the drawdown date
of the Loan, Uniright, as a chargor, shall deliver to Will City, as a chargee, a duly
executed share charge in respect of the charging of 100,000,000 ordinary shares
of the Company (“Shares”) owned by Uniright in favour of Will City (the “Share
Charge™). On 2 March 2010, Uniright executed and delivered the Share Charge to
Will City. Subject to the terms and conditions set out therein, Uniright pledged
100,000,000 Shares to Will City as the collateral created by the Share Charge.

(3) By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Yip Heon Ping, being one of the discretionary objects of
The New Millennium Trust for the time being, is deemed to be interested in
298,432,619 shares of the Company.

(4) Among these shares, 122,597,702 shares are held by Greenford as a trustee
mentioned above. The entire issued share capital in Greenford is held by Mr. Yip
Heon Ping.

(5) Based on 752,955,000 shares of the Company in issue as at 31 March 2010.

The interests of the Directors in the share options of the Company are
separately disclosed in the section “Share Option Schemes” above.

In addition to the above, certain Directors have non-beneficial personal
equity interests in certain subsidiaries held for the benefit of the Company
solely.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2010, none of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company had registered an interest or short position
in the ordinary shares or underlying shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporations that was required to be recorded pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed in the sections “Share Option Schemes” and “Directors’
and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying
Shares” above, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any of the Directors or their respective spouses or minor
children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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Interests and Short Positions of Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 March 2010, shareholders (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
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by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares or underlying shares of the Company

Name of shareholder

REEREM

Greenford Company (PTC) Limited

Century Technology Holding (PTC) Limited

Bakersfield Global (PTC) Corporation

Ace Central Group (PTC) Limited
(as trustee of
The New Millennium Trust)
(LAThe New Millennium Trust
ZEFEAFD)

Mr. Yip Seng Mun
EREREE

Knicks Capital Inc.

Capacity and
nature of interest
SHR
EEME

Notes

Bt

(1) Beneficially owned
EnifAa

(2) Beneficially owned
EmlEa

Bl

(3) Beneficially owned
EnlAa

4) Trustee of a discretionary
family trust and through

controlled corporations
PRERIGEFTZZFEAR

ik R e /NG

Founder of a

discretionary family trust,
beneficially owned and through
controlled corporations
FRERKETZ

BN BRBEER

g Ol /NG

(6) Beneficially owned
BE=iEA

FERRZHER R

RZB-—ZTF=A=+—8 ' RAQXFRMHKIIEH
B A RIEES LB SR EXVIFE2REID
B2 IEXARARRABEE » RALER AR AIRE
FEr LB GO EBCHEBTZELM 2 ERIOR
BZBER(ARREEHEIZTHABRIN) AT

RERGIEBRLIGERD 4B

Percentage of
the Company'’s
issued share

Number of capital
ordinary shares or Note (12)
underlying shares el NN |

ZEKRE ERITRAE
HERS BoL
RHHE MiEE(12)
122,597,702 16.28%
116,749,701 15.50%
59,085,216 7.84%
298,432,619 39.63%
302,993,619 40.24%
40,480,000 5.37%
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Interests and Short Positions of Substantial Shareholders

(continued)

Name of shareholder

IREREH

Mr. Zhang Xingsheng
SRR A S A

Uniright Group Limited

Mr. Yip Heon Wai
Bk e

Notes

k=3

(7)&(11)

(7), (8) &(11)

Capacity and
nature of interest
SHR
EEME

Interest of a controlled corporation
—RHREIA AR

Beneficially owned
EnER

Interest of a controlled corporation,
beneficially owned and
interest of spouse
—HRERI N AR

Bm

BEas REEBERE

Right Advance Management Limited 9) Beneficially owned
EalER

Ms. Wang Li Mei 9) Interest of a controlled corporation
Tt —HREIA AR
Mr. Wang Leilei 9) Interest of a controlled corporation
IEERE — B A A
Will City Limited (10) & (11) Beneficially owned
HEWMAR A A BEalER
Mr. Zhang Yingnan (10) & (11) Interest of a controlled corporation
SRR L —RHREIA AR
Notes: M3 -
(1) Greenford is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and its entire 1

issued share capital is held by Mr. Yip Heon Ping, a Director of the Company.
(2)  Century is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and its entire issued @)

share capital is beneficially owned by Mr. Yip Seng Mun, a former Director of the

Company. %wE -
(3) Bakersfield is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and its entire (3)

issued share capital is beneficially owned by Mr. Yip Seng Mun.
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Number of
ordinary shares or
underlying shares

ZERN
EL )
R#% & E
40,480,000

100,000,000

109,600,000

150,000,000

150,000,000

150,000,000

100,000,000

100,000,000

Percentage of
the Company'’s
issued share
capital

Note (12)
EARQH
BETRA
Aok
MEE(12)

5.37%

13.28%

14.55%

19.92%

19.92%

19.92%

13.28%

13.28%

Greenford B — N EBERE ZHESFMAK L2 AR
He PO B TRABARRZEZERTALERS -

CenturyA — N REBEZHBREMKILZ A K
EHMEBETRAARRAMTESTERREEE S

Bakersfield & — AN EBE LA SFMK L2 AR -

HEWEBTRAMEERAEESHS °



Interests and Short Positions of Substantial Shareholders
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

4)

(©)

(6)

@)

®)

(10)

(1

(12)

An aggregate of 298,432,619 shares are held through Greenford, Century and
Bakersfield as trustees of The Greenford Unit Trust, The Century Unit Trust and The
Bakersfield Unit Trust, respectively. All the units of which are held by Ace Central as
the trustee of The New Millennium Trust, a discretionary family trust established
with Mr. Yip Seng Mun as the founder and Mr. Yip Heon Ping as one of the
discretionary objects for the time being.

By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Yip Seng Mun is deemed to be interested in 298,432,619
shares of the Company as the founder of The New Millennium Trust and personally
interested in 561,000 shares of the Company. In addition, he is also entitled to his
share options to subscribe for 4,000,000 shares of the Company in his capacity as
an employee of the Group.

Knicks Capital Inc. is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and its
entire issued share capital is held by Mr. Zhang Xingsheng.

Uniright is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and its entire issued
share capital is held by Mr. Yip Heon Keung and Mr. Yip Heon Wai in equal shares.

By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Yip Heon Wai, a former Director of the Company, is
deemed to be interested in 100,000,000 shares of the Company held by Uniright.
In addition, he is also entitled to his options to subscribe for 5,300,000 shares of
the Company and deemed to be interested in the share options held by his spouse,
in her capacity as an employee of the Company, to subscribe for 4,300,000 shares
of the Company.

Right Advance Management Limited (“Right Advance”) is a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands and its entire issued share capital is registered in the
name of Ms. Wang Li Mei, such shares are ultimately owned by Mr. Wang Leilei.
Ms. Wang Li Mei is the sole Director of Right Advance.

Will City is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and its entire issued
share capital is held by Mr. Zhang Yingnan.

Uniright pledged 100,000,000 shares of the Company to Will City as a security
created by the Share Charge for the repayment of the Loan provided under the

Loan Agreement.

Based on 752,955,000 shares of the Company in issue as at 31 March 2010.
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GEX

©)

®

@

(10)

an

(12)

(%)

& £298432,619/% [i% 15 FA Greenford + Century ) Bakersfield
5 5l LAThe Greenford Unit Trust ~ The Century Unit Trust
K. The Bakersfield Unit TrustZ st A S HH - % &
{555 2 BT 8 B 719 /A Ace Central A The New Millennium
Trustz 25 A 13 A + i The New Millennium Trust
AB—IHERNEBRREEREIMARNUERFLAE
REF—HERAEHRMIZ2EERIKEET -

BIEFE S KB EEH - E AThe New Millennium
TrustZ Bl A EBELERRABEEARF
298,432,619 % I% 17 2 # & & # 5 A& A 8]561,000 % %
HBZEAEZ - W BN REREEZHHF
A 1] R 7K A 74,000,000 A% i (7 2 BB RS AE o

Knicks Capital Inc. 8 —FH R EBRZESZMA L2
AR HE DIZE?*%?HXZKHE?EME?EE%ﬁ

Uniight — MR B E X SFMEKZZ AR
H2HEBTRAAERREERERNHLESE
A -

RIEBLERPEED  ARRNTEFERLLE
48 A P Uniright BT #5 A 7K A 8] 100,000,000 A% & 15
BAEREZ o I W INE B Al R B AN A F]5,300,000
BERE (D 2 BB RRHE - AR BREBRBAFENUA
SE8EE 2 &)= H A R AR 54,300,000 f% A% 15
2R EA R o

Right Advance Management Limited ([ Right Advance |) /%
—HREBEZEESTMK L2 AR - E2HME T
BANEI T2 BEER  TEERERRESR
ZER D o T84+ ARight Advance 2 I —E & o

THA-HREBRLZHEEMKIZ AR E28
EHTRARREMELSE ©

%P7 IR 4 B 3 8 3R m A R 4R
100,000,000 8 A 2 RIIR D {E B AR D R Z R B @ -

Uniright 5t & 5K 13 &

RFERZZ
752,955,oool]xzk

—EE=ZA=+-BB®FZ
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Report of the Directors EEEH &

Interests and Short Positions of Substantial Shareholders
(continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2010, the Company had not been
notified by any persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Businesses

None of the Directors or the management shareholders of the Company or
their respective associates (as defined under the GEM Listing Rules) have
any interests in a business which competes or may compete with the
business of the Group, or has any other conflict of interest with the Group
during the year.

Audit Committee

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) on
7 March 2000 and has formulated and from time to time amended its
written terms of reference in accordance with the provisions set out in the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include the review and
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting system and internal control
procedures, review of the Group’s financial information and review of the
relationship with the auditors of the Group. Regular meetings have been
held by the Audit Committee since its establishment. The Audit Committee
held four meetings during the year under review.

During the year, Mr. James T. Siano resigned as an independent non-
executive Director and an Audit Committee member on 1 November 2009.
Prior to the resignation of Mr. James T. Siano, the Audit Committee
comprised three independent non-executive Directors of the Company,
namely Mr. James T. Siano (Chairman of the Audit Committee), Ms. Tse
Yuet Ling, Justine and Ms. Lai May Lun. Following his resignation, the
Company has two independent non-executive Directors and two Audit
Committee members. During the transitional period, Ms. Lai May Lun
assumed the post of the acting Chairman of the Audit Committee with
effect from 9 November 2009.

The Group’s audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2010 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee, who is of the opinion
that such statements comply with the applicable accounting standards, the
GEM Listing Rules and legal requirements, and that adequate disclosures
have been made.
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Report of the Directors EEE &

Sufficiency of Public Float EBHABFHRE

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the  HEARFERAH  RIEARTAIAHESZERR
prescribed public float under the GEM Listing Rules based on the  EARQREEMM  AAR —HHEFAIZER FTH
information that is publicly available to the Company and within the  BIFf iR E 2 AREHRE -

knowledge of the Directors of the Company.

Auditors BB

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors of ~ Lk @I EHFAEERT  MABEREAAR
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM. AIZEM I ARZRBREERRBFRG LIEZ -
On behalf of the Board RERESFE

Yip Heon Keung Ea

Chairman Ema

Hong Kong b

21 June 2010 —E-FTFXA=Z+—H
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Corporate Governance Report 1S¥ERHE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance with a view to assuring the conduct of management of the
Company as well as protecting the interests of all shareholders. The good
corporate governance principles of the Company emphasis a quality board
for leadership and control of the Company, effective internal controls,
transparency and accountability to all shareholders.

Corporate Governance Practices

Save as the deviation disclosed below, the Company has complied with all
the code provisions set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the “CG Code") as contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules
throughout the year under review.

The CG Code provision A.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman and
chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out in writing.
During the year under review, following the retirement of Mr. Guan Ming
Jie as an executive Director of the Company and his resignation from the
office of the chief executive officer ("CEOQ") of the Company on 30 July
2009, the appointment of the CEO was outstanding. During the
transitional period from 9 November 2009, Mr. Yip Heon Keung, the
Chairman and executive Director of the Company, assumed the post of the
acting CEO until Ms. Li Luyi was appointed as the CEO on 3 February 2010.

The CG Code provision A.3 (Note 1) also provides that every board of
directors of a listed issuer must include at least three independent non-
executive directors. During the year under review, Mr. James T. Siano
resigned from his offices of an independent non-executive Director and the
Chairman of the Audit Committee, both took effect on 1 November 2009.
Following his resignation and up to the date of this report, the Company
has only two independent non-executive Directors and two Audit
Committee members.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules. In response to specific enquiry made by the Company, each of the
Directors gave confirmation that he/she complied with the required
standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors throughout the year ended 31 March 2010.

34 PROSTEN TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED = ANNUAL REPORT 2010

ARARBNERRKFEEER  UWHREARRQA]
BREEZTRARREEZEBRR 2ME - ARFIRI
CEERRIZEHERETIRAEREEARARAZ
PEREFEY ETARZIANERE RFEAE
B EREERZHEEE -

EEELRER

BRIATEEZIREES  RNEBEFE  ARF—HE
STRIERETRAUMBR T AMEZEEERERT
A(TREBEARERTRI) ZMAA TR -

EEAFRTUBYXA2IREETFEAERHNITE
ZABEBERD  BETEHR— ARBRME - EFE
BERATEDRARZZBRERBERAELAERS
P REBEFE EEARNTER_ZFTTNAFLH
ZTRREARBDNTEERBHEARNRAEFENT
BEZRBBE  ARARMNAZEEERTE - REZ
EENFET-ANRRBRZBERE ARARTER
HITEFEMBREEEEIARRAZREERITEZ
B BEEFE—LITR_-_T—TF_A=AEZ
ERARAEREHNITERL -

CEBAERTHNEXAIMEN) MEEEM™M LT
BITANESTSVAELBE B IFERTES -
REIBEEE © James T. Siano L £ B I B IEITES
REBEZRZESTRZBE  WRZZEZENF+—A
—BES - FEITREARSEHE  ARFESM
BB ITEERMEEXEZEGKE -

EFETZESHXD

ARPERMN - EERESETERRBZITART
A BFFRZ BIERE N ERAIER EHARRIS548
RESETIRMBZ X5 W FIRE o« EARRBEH K
EERR  REEIRR ERBE-_T-ZTF=
A=+ HALEEE " BEETRHVTREERES
ETEFRHZITRTA



Corporate Governance Report 1¥ERHE

Board of Directors

Composition

During the year under review, the following changes for the composition
of the Board took place:

Mr. Yip Heon Wai retired from the office as an executive Director of the
Company and the Chairman of the Board with effect from 30 July 2009.

Mr. Guan Ming Jie retired and resigned from the offices as an executive
Director and the CEO of the Company with effect from 30 July 2009.

Mr. Yip Heon Keung, an executive Director of the Company, was appointed
as the Chairman of the Board and Mr. Yip Heon Ping was appointed as an
executive Director of the Company, both with effect from 6 August 2009.

Mr. James T. Siano resigned from his offices of an independent non-
executive Director and the Chairman of the Audit Committee with effect
from 1 November 2009.

Following the resignation of Mr. James T. Siano, the Company has only two
independent non-executive Directors and two Audit Committee members.
Since the Company has failed to find a suitable candidate to fill the
vacancies before 1 February 2010, being the 3 months’ time from the
resignation of Mr. James T. Siano on 1 November 2009, the Company has
breached Rules 5.05 and 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules which respectively
require the Company to retain at all times three independent non-executive
directors with at least one of the independent non-executive directors has
relevant professional qualifications of accounting or financial management
expertise and a minimum of three members to comprise the audit
committee. The Company has also breached Rules 5.06 and 5.33 of the
GEM Listing Rules which require the Company to meet the requirements as
stipulated under Rules 5.05 and 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules within 3
months after failing to meet such requirements.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises two executive
Directors, two non-executive Directors and two independent non-executive
Directors. All Directors gave sufficient time and attention to the affairs of
the Company for the year ended 31 March 2010. Each executive Director
has sufficient experience to hold the position so as to carry out his duties
effectively and efficiently.
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Board of Directors (continued)

Composition (continued)
The Board as at 31 March 2010 comprised:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yip Heon Keung (Chairman)

Mr. Yip Heon Ping (appointed on 6 August 2009)
Mr. Yip Heon Wai (retired on 30 July 2009)

Mr. Guan Ming Jie (retired on 30 July 2009)

Non-executive Directors:

Dr. Xu Zhiming
Mr. Zhang Ying

Independent non-executive Directors:

Ms. Tse Yuet Ling, Justine
Ms. Lai May Lun

Mr. James T. Siano (resigned on 1 November 2009)

The names, biographical details of the Directors and the relationships
among them are set out in the “Directors and Senior Management”
section of this annual report.

Board Meetings

The Board meets in person or through other electronic means of communication
at least four times every year. At least 14 days notice of all Board meetings
were given to all Directors, who were all given an opportunity to include
matters in the agenda for discussion. The Company Secretary assists the
Chairman in preparing the agenda for the meeting, and ensures that all
applicable rules and regulations regarding the meetings are observed. The
finalised agenda and accompanying board papers are then sent to all
Directors prior to the meeting.
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Board of Directors (continued)

Board Meetings (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2010, the Board held four regular full Board meetings.

EExg @

Exgez (H)
BE-_Z-ZTF-A=1t-HULFE EFgH

The individual attendance record of each Director is as follows: HEROALBEESER SESTELES E?i
Z R

Attendance
Directors = H IR
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Yip Heon Keung (Chairman) Bmiks (FE) 4/4
Mr. Yip Heon Ping (appointed on 6 August 2009) ErFet (RZZEZNFENASBEZT) 2/4
Mr. Yip Heon Wai (retired on 30 July 2009) ERgELE (RZZBZNFELA=1THRAE) 1/4
Mr. Guan Ming Jie (retired on 30 July 2009) BRALE (RMZZEZAFLA=+RHEMA) 1/4
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Dr. Xu Zhiming L pRfE 4 4/4
Mr. Zhang Ying REALE 4/4
Independent non-executive Directors BYFHTES

Mr. James T. Siano (resigned on 1 November 2009)

Ms. Tse Yuet Ling, Justine @A T L
Ms. Lai May Lun BE@IZ T

Apart from the regular Board meetings of the year, the Board met on other
occasions when a board-level decision on a particular matter was required.
The Directors would receive details of agenda items for decision and
minutes of committee meetings in advance of each Board meeting.

During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discussed and
formulated the overall strategies of the Company, monitored financial
performances and discussed the annual and interim results, set annual
budgets, as well as discussed and decided on other significant matters.

The Company Secretary recorded the proceedings of each Board meeting
in details by keeping detailed minutes, including all decisions made by the
Board together with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if
any). Draft Board minutes were circulated to all Directors for comment and
approval as soon as practicable after the meeting. All minutes are open for
inspection to Directors at any reasonable time on their request by any
Director. All Directors have access to relevant and timely information at all
times as the Chairman ensures that management will supply the Board and
its committees with all relevant information in a timely manner.

James T. Siano 5t £

(R=ZFTAF+—A—B&II) 1/4
4/4
4/4
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Board of Directors (continued)

Delegation by the Board

The Company has set out the respective functions and responsibilities
reserved to the Board and those delegated to management. The Board
delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to executive Directors and
senior management while reserving certain key matters for its approval.
The Board is responsible for the approval and monitoring of the Company’s
overall strategies and policies, approval of business plans; evaluating the
performance of the Company and oversight of management. It is also
responsible for promoting the success of the Company and its businesses
by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

Decisions of the Board are communicated to the management through
executive Directors who have attended at Board meetings.

Term of Appointment and Re-election

Each of the executive Directors is engaged on a Director’s service contract
with the Company. Under the CG Code provision A.4.1, non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
Each of the existing non-executive Directors is appointed for a fixed term of
one year, which was renewed automatically each year for successive terms
of one year, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance
with the Articles of Association. All independent non-executive Directors
have formal letters of appointment setting out key terms and conditions
relative to their appointment and are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election in accordance with the Articles of Association. Details of the
term of appointment of the Directors are disclosed in the section “Directors’
Service Contracts” of the Report of the Directors in this annual report.

Every newly appointed Director is provided with a package of orientation
materials detailing the duties and responsibilities of Directors under the
GEM Listing Rules, the Articles of Association, related ordinances and
relevant regulatory requirements of Hong Kong.

Every Director is aware that, before accepting appointment as a Director,
he/she must be able to give sufficient time and attention to the affairs of
the Company.

Under the CG Code provision A.4.2, all directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at the first general
meeting after their appointment and every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years.
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Board of Directors (continued)

Term of Appointment and Re-election (continued)

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any Director appointed by the Board
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office
until the next following general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election. At each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not three (3) or a multiple
of three (3), then the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years.

Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer

Under the CG Code provision A.2.1., the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman and
the chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out in
writing. During the year under review, Mr. Yip Heon Keung served the roles
of Chairman and acting Chief Executive Officer following his appointments
on 6 August 2009 and 9 November 2009 respectively. Mr. Yip Heon Keung
served the dual roles of Chairman and acting Chief Executive Officer until 3
February 2010 when Ms. Li Luyi was appointed as the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company.

To improve independency and divisions of functions, the roles of the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company have been
segregated and have not been exercised by the same individual since 3
February 2010.

The Chairman, Mr. Yip Heon Keung, was responsible for ensuring that the
Board functions effectively and smoothly. In doing so, the Chairman
ensured that good corporate governance practices and procedures were
established and followed, and that all Directors were properly briefed and
received all relevant information prior to each meeting. The Chairman was
also responsible for overseeing the implementation of corporate strategies
of the Group.

Since 3 February 2010, Ms. Li Luyi has assumed the role of the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company. She is responsible for overseeing the
day-to-day operations of the Group.
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Board of Directors (continued)

Remuneration Committee

In accordance with the CG Code, the Company established its remuneration
committee (“Remuneration Committee”) on 17 June 2005 with written
terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
are available on the Company’s website. The Remuneration Committee
comprises two independent non-executive Directors of the Company,
namely Ms. Tse Yuet Ling, Justine (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee),
Ms. Lai May Lun and one executive Director, Mr. Yip Heon Keung.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior management and
reviewing the specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors and
senior management by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved
by the Board from time to time.
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During the year under review, a meeting of the Remuneration Committee  REBEFE  FHEZEESeR _TTAF A -_1+=
was held on 22 June 2009 for reviewing and discussing the policy for AT —RE .E% NEMRIREELRERERE
remuneration of Directors and the senior management. The individual 5Bk - FMEZEESSKESAHFESE VT
attendance record of each Remuneration Committee member is as follows: gRANH

Attendance
Members £8 HERE
Ms. Tse Yuet Ling, Justine (Committee Chairman) MABZE(ZEESEE) 1/1
Ms. Lai May Lun REmL+ 1/
Mr. Yip Heon Keung | ok A 1/1
Nomination of Directors BEECRE
The Company has not established a nomination committee. The Board is A RAWEEZVIELREZEG EESBEZRES

responsible for considering the suitability of a candidate to act as a Director,
and approving and recommending the termination of the appointment of
a Director.

The Chairman is mainly responsible for identifying suitable candidates for
members of the Board when there is a vacancy or an additional Director is
considered necessary. The Chairman will propose the appointment of such
candidates to each member of the Board for consideration and each
member of the Board will review the qualifications of the relevant
candidates for determining the suitability to the Group on the basis of his
qualifications, experience and background. The decision of appointing a
Director must be approved unanimously by the members of the Board and
make recommendation to the shareholders’ meeting for approval.

The Company currently does not have any plan to set up a nomination
committee given the relatively small size of the Board.
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Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 7 March 2000 and has
formulated and from time to time amended its written terms of reference
in accordance with the provisions set out in the CG Code. The terms of
reference of the Audit Committee are available on the Company’s website.
Prior to the resignation of Mr. James T. Siano, the Audit Committee
comprised three independent non-executive Directors of the Company,
namely Mr. James T. Siano (Chairman of the Audit Committee), Ms. Tse
Yuet Ling, Justine and Ms. Lai May Lun. Following the resignation of Mr.
James T. Siano on 1 November 2009, the Company has only two
independent non-executive Directors and two Audit Committee members,
and there is no independent non-executive Director with relevant
professional qualifications of accounting or financial management
expertise. During the transitional period, Ms. Lai May Lun assumed the post
of the acting Chairman of the Audit Committee with effect from 9
November 2009.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include the review and
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting system and internal control
procedures, review of the Group’s financial information and review of the
relationship with the auditors of the Group.
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The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year under review. The ERZE€CPEBEFENRITUREH - EXE
individual attendance record of each Audit Committee member is as E&@&8MESEEFEE 2 THEOT ¢
follows:

Attendance
Members £8 i FE R #
Ms. Lai May Lun (Acting Committee Chairman) REMEZL (ZESEETE) 4/4
Ms. Tse Yuet Ling, Justine # AR 4/4
Mr. James T. Siano (resigned on 1 November 2009) James T. Siano st (R=ZZNF+—A—B&HMT) 1/4

The Group’s unaudited quarterly and interim results and audited annual
results during the year ended 31 March 2010 have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee, which was of the opinion that the preparation of such
results complied with the applicable accounting standards and requirements
and that adequate disclosure has been made.
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Auditors’ Remuneration

The Audit Committee of the Company is responsible for considering and
reviewing the appointment of the external auditors and reviewing any non-
audit functions performed by the external auditors, including whether such
non-audit functions could lead to any potential material adverse effect on
the Group.

During the year under review, the Group paid HK$820,000 to the external
auditors for their audit services and HK$77,400 for their non-audit related
services.

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibility for the Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of the
financial statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements
are in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The Directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial
statements of the Group.

The statements of the external auditors of the Company, Messrs. Ernst &
Young, about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of
the Group are set out in the section “Independent Auditors’ Report” of this
annual report.

Internal Control

During the year under review, the Board conducted a review of its system
of internal control to ensure it is effective and adequate. The Board
convened meetings periodically to discuss financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions. The Directors are of
the view that the existing system of internal control is effective and
adequate to the Group.

Investor Relations

The Company has disclosed all necessary information to the shareholders in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors convene the annual
general meeting each year to meet the shareholders and answer to their
enquiries.

The Company also communicates to its shareholders through its annual,
interim and quarterly reports. The Directors, Company Secretary or other
appropriate members of senior management also respond to inquiries from
shareholders and investors on a timely basis.
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Independent Auditors’ Report & #Z HET K&

Ell ERNST & YOUNG
= K

To the shareholders of
Prosten Technology Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of Prosten Technology Holdings
Limited set out on pages 45 to 120, which comprise the consolidated
and company statements of financial position as at 31 March 2010, and
the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the
true and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued) ¥ 37 #Z B Bl ¥} & (@0

To the shareholders of
Prosten Technology Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2010 and
of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

18th Floor, Two International Finance Centre,
8 Finance Street, Central

Hong Kong

21 June 2010
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Consolidated Income Statement 428 iE% &
Year ended 31 March 2010 {2 —E—FF=H=+—HIFF/F

2010 2009
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-EF —ETNF
B 5 FHET THT
Revenue I &= 5 69,141 109,477
Cost of sales $H S B AN (16,073) (19,349)
Gross profit E ¥ 53,068 90,128
Other income and gains o N & 5 4,331 2,418
Selling expenses SHER Y (17,995) (24,697)
Administrative expenses TR (38,779) (41,194)
Other expenses HAth B (7,334) (10,272)
Fair value gain/(loss) on derivative component AIMEBEESFRTETAES S 2
of convertible bonds NEEEKZ(FE) 26 (1,654) 4,827
Gain on derecognition of convertible bonds BUHER AR R EFH
2 U zs 26 5,446 —
Finance costs 8 7% & A 7 (118) (13)
Profit/(loss) before tax BREBAER(EE) 6 (3,035) 21,197
Income tax expense FTS A X 10 (3,770) (5,561)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to AARERFEAEMEER
equity holders of the Company %A (E5E) 11 (6,805) 15,636
Earnings/(loss) per share attributable to KREERFEEAELER
equity holders of the Company BR,(F8) 12
Basic H K (HK1.1) HK2.6
cents &1l cents &1l
Diluted 23] (HK1.1) HK1.7
cents &l cents 34l

EEnEzRERAT —2-2258 45




Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income ZE2HKFHER
Year ended 31 March 2010 &% —E—FF = =+—HIFF/E

2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-FF —ETNEF
FET TAT
Profit/(loss) for the year FEREFR,(BE) (6,805) 15,636
Other comprehensive income Hi 2wz
Exchange differences on translation of BREBINETSE FHE N
foreign operations EE 217 2,510
Total comprehensive income/(expense) FREEKE(BX)
for the year Pl (6,588) 18,146
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 434 Bl #& iR R 3/
31 March 2010 —E—ZF#=H=+—H

2010 2009
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
—E-FF —ETNEF
B & FHET FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE KEHE 13 4,778 4,900
Investment property BBy 14 2,797 1,888
Deposits HEES — 1,253
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE 16 796 796
Deferred tax assets RIETIEE E 17 4,990 8,377
Total non-current assets EMBEELRE 13,361 17,214
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Trade receivables & WL AR 3R 18 15,970 17,500
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERTRIE - 5] & & fh U R IE 19 6,217 5,824
Equity investments at fair value through BATEBYEREREERRERE
profit or loss ZIRERE 20 3,236 1,911
Due from Directors FEWESE 2 708 21 703 856
Pledged deposits BEBER 22 228 156
Cash and cash equivalents HERIAESEEY 22 70,558 81,771
Total current assets ) A& E AR 96,912 108,018
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade payables FE AT BR 3K 23 3,374 2,838
Other payables, deposits received and HEmEMZE  2RET€
accruals K st 718 24 8,220 16,762
Finance lease payables FE N BF 75 & OB 25 145 130
Tax payable P A 1A 5,346 4,617
Convertible bonds AR B Z 26 — 36,000
Embedded financial derivative BRARNSRITETA 26 = 3,792
Total current liabilities EIN=NEE L 17,085 64,139
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 79,827 43,879
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EEHERABEE 93,188 61,093
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Finance lease payables FE B S AR & FR 1A 25 52 197
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFRIE A E 17 — 1,160
Total non-current liabilities ERT BELRTE 52 1,357
Net assets EEFE 93,136 59,736
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to equity holders of AAREEREA
the Company PEfhRE =
Issued capital BEITRA 27 75,295 59,767
Reserves & 29(a) 17,841 (31
Total equity gy ok 93,136 59,736
Yip Heon Keung Yip Heon Ping
Chairman Director
A @
FE EFE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 4 &z 8 8 R
Year ended 31 March 2010 &% —E—FF = =+—HIFF/E

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

DR EE ARG
Foreign
Share  Statutory currency Share Accum-
Issued  premium reserve translation option ulated
capital account fund reserve reserve losses  Reserves Total
2% 30} EER SMEEEE 1 £5  sub-total equity
TR HER RES Sk e BB RENE ERER
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B e FHT FHT FAT FHET FHT FHT FHAT FHT
At 1 April 2009 RZFTNEF
MA—H 59,767 348,934 53 7,946 6,605 (363,569) (31) 59,736
Total comprehensive income/ Fr2E%E
(expense) for the year (%) #@%E — — — 217 — (6,805) (6,588) (6,588)
Issue of shares BITRR D 27 15,000 22,500 — — — = 22,500 37,500
Share options exercised 1TEEE AR A 27 528 321 — — — — 321 849
Share issue expenses MR BITHR X 27 — (389) — — — — (389) (389)
Equity-settled share option NEREE
arrangements ERRER G 29(b) — — — — 2,028 — 2,028 2,028
Transfer of share option B REREIT R
reserve on the exercised HERERE
share options E 29(b) — 566 — — (566) — — —
Transfer of share option R 18 W
reserve on the forfeited R AR
share options G 29(b) — — — — (699) 699 — —
At 31 March 2010 R-ZE-ZTF
=A=+—H 75,295 371,932 53 8,163 7,368 (369,675) 17,841 93,136
At 1 April 2008 RZZENEF
MA—A 59,727 348,808 53 5,436 2,533 (379,222) (22,392) 37,315
Total comprehensive income FAZHEKE
for the year Fak] — — — 2,510 — 15,636 18,146 18,146
Share options exercised TR AR A 27 40 126 — — — — 126 166
Equity-settled share option Nig=mEE 2
arrangements ERRERHE 29(b) — — — — 4,089 — 4,089 4,089
Transfer of share option 8 AR 408 T s
reserve on the forfeited R
share options i 29(b) = = = = (17) 17 — —
At 31 March 2009 R-ZZTNhEF
=A=+—8 59,767 348,934 53 7,946 6,605 (363,569) (31) 59,736
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ZSEERER
Year ended 31 March 2010 {2 —E—FF=H=+—HIFF/F

2010 2009
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-ZF ZZTTNF
B FHET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXBZHERE
Profit/(loss) before tax B A& (E1E) (3,035) 21,197
Adjustments for: KB TIEIE
Finance costs s ER 7 118 13
Interest income B A 5 (710) (975)
Investment income BEWA 5 (534) (570)
Write back of trade payables JE {F BR 3% B0 4% 5 (696) (73)
Gain on disposal of items of property, EEME  BERZE
plant and equipment 15 B = 5 = (175)
Depreciation e 6 1,985 2,316
Write off of items of property, plant and equipment  #72 - /5 M &R #7E B i 54 6 6 252
Impairment allowance for trade receivables JFE W2 B SO B B 1 6 78 366
Equity-settled share option arrangements AR A5 2 BE R R 2 B 28 2,028 4,089
Changes in fair value of: NEEEZS :
Investment property HEYE 6 (898) 580
Derivative component of convertible bonds AR ESTET AT D 1,654 (4,827)
Equity investments at fair value through ERAFEEYEEERRE
profit or loss BRIE 7 RAERE 6 (1,325) 1,251
Gain on derecognition of convertible bonds Tie R Al R R (R 25 2 W s (5,446) —
(6,775) 23,444
Decrease/(increase) in deposits sTE& R () 1,253 (1,031)
Decrease in trade receivables JE Ut BR RO 1,452 24,495
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits JENZIE - ST R EM
and other receivables FEM R IB R A, ($En) (393) 425
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from Directors  fEU &= %= 2 ZIBR D (3E0) 153 (714)
Increase in trade payables & {1 AR R 3E AN 1,232 —
Increase/(decrease) in other payables, deposits HipEfR=IE i e &
received and accruals FETRIBIE A0, Rk 2>) (8,542) 7,089
Exchange realignment R (150) 1,620
Cash generated from/(used in) operations WEEBRG /(A 2He (11,770) 55,328
Interest received B FIE 710 5
Investment income received BREERA 534 570
Bank interest paid B HERITH A (89) —
Interest element of finance lease rental payments  Bf & ERB S %2 5 235D (29) (13)
Overseas taxes paid B g EIIE (6) (12)
Taxes paid in Mainland China B B R RE R IR (1,058) (6,125)
Taxes refunded in Mainland China BRI B ARERTE 1,431 —
Withholding taxes paid in Mainland China B AR B K B TR 17 (1,160) _—
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating EEEE(BTR) 2
activities BEMEFE (11,437) 50,723
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued) %R 4&
E—FF=F=+—HIFFEF

Year ended 31 March 2010 & Z —

REREBR @

&)

2010 2009
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
—E-FF —ETNEF
B FHET FHET

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating CEEHE,/ (FTA)

activities BEm=EF5E (11,437) 50,723
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXKz2BRERE
Purchases of items of property, plant and BAME  BERKME

equipment £IEH 13, 30 (1,864) (2,853)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, LEME  BE K&E

plant and equipment B B S 5RIE 4 175
Increase in pledged bank deposits B R RITIE R AN (72) (156)
Net cash flows used in investing activities AREEXEB 2R eREFRE (1,932) (2,834)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES ~ BE%B>BEehE
Repayment of convertible bonds EETRKRES 26 (36,000) =
Net proceeds from issue of shares BIRM TSR IEERE 27 37,960 166
Capital element of finance lease rental payments B HEEM S NR I AEE (130) (93)
Net cash flows from financing activities MEXBHEzREREFHE 1,830 73
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND HERBESSEWE M

CASH EQUIVALENTS OR2) #5E (11,539) 47,962
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year E%ﬂZiﬁi&ﬁA“{E:@ 81,771 33,202
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net FERBH) 2 2R 326 607
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END FRZEAESNEASZEY

OF YEAR 70,558 81,771
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BREeRRESZEYD
Cash and bank balances B4 RIRITE 22 21,016 38,557
Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity R EUS R 5 = & A A Z) £

of less than three months when acquired 2 AR E HRTE AR 22 49,542 43,214
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the REBIRRKRIRERER

statement of financial position and statement Z2I RS RRSEEY

of cash flows 70,558 81,771
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Statement of Financial Position Bf & ik R &
31 March 2010 —E—ZF#=H=+—H

2010 2009
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-ZF —EENF
B o FHE T THT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries NG X 15 19,323 30,602
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables AR RIE - 5l & R H b EKRGRIA 19 143 141
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBHESZEY 22 3,533 11
Total current assets MEEELE 3,676 152
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Accruals and other payables JE 51 R TE Ko HoAh & 5 51 1E 24 2,416 2,961
Convertible bonds A 2 iR E 5 26 = 36,000
Embedded financial derivative BRARNESBITET A 26 = 3,792
Total current liabilities mEAaEAE 2,416 42,753
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) RBEE (BB FE 1,260 (42,601)
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(8F)FE 20,583 (11,999)
EQUITY/(DEFICIENCY IN ASSETS) R (BEEE4)
Issued capital BB ITRR AR 27 75,295 59,767
Reserves & 29(b) (54,712) (71,766)
Total equity/(deficiency in assets) Exn(BEBMH) L8 20,583 (11,999)
Yip Heon Keung Yip Heon Ping
Chairman Director
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bf#& R &T M =F
31 March 2010 —E—ZE#=H=+—H

2.1

Corporate Information

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is Century Yard,
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place of
business is Unit A3, 11/F, Bank of East Asia Harbour View Centre,
56 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares
are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM") of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 15 to the
financial statements.

Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) (which include
all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for an investment
property, derivative financial instruments and equity investments,
which have been measured at fair value. These financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2010. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the
date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases. All income,
expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intercompany
transactions and intercompany balances within the Group are
eliminated on consolidation in full.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bjf 75 3R 3% Mt 5F (#0)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for

the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

HKFRS 1 and
HKAS 27
Amendments

HKFRS 2
Amendments

HKFRS 7

Amendments

HKFRS 8

HKAS 1 (Revised)

HKAS 18
Amendment*

HKAS 23 (Revised)

HKAS 32 and
HKAS 1
Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 9
and HKAS 39
Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 13

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of

HKFRSs and HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate

Financial Statements — Cost of an Investment
in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or
Associate

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment
— Vesting Conditions and Cancellations

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures — Improving Disclosures
about Financial Instruments

Operating Segments

Presentation of Financial Statements

Amendment to Appendix to HKAS 18 Revenue
— Determining whether an entity is acting
as a principal or as an agent

Borrowing Costs

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation and HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Puttable Financial
Instruments and Obligations Arising on
Liquidation

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 Reassessment of
Embedded Derivatives and HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
— Embedded Derivatives

Customer Loyalty Programmes

31 March 2010 —ZF—FF=H=+—H
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bjf %5 3R 3% Mt 5 (@)

31 March 2010 —E—ZFF=H=+—FH

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures (continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

HK(IFRIC)-Int 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

HK(IFRIC)-Int 18 Transters of Assets from Customers (adopted from
1 July 2009)

Improvements Amendments to a number of HKFRSs
to HKFRSs
(October 2008)**

& Included in Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 (as issued in May
2009).

**  The Group adopted all the improvements to HKFRSs issued in
October 2008 except for the amendments to HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations —
Plan to sell the controlling interest in a subsidiary, which is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact of the
HKFRS 7 Amendments, the HKFRS 8 Amendment, HKAS 1 (Revised)
and Improvements to HKFRSs (October 2008), the adoption of these
new and revised HKFRSs has had no significant financial effect on
these financial statements.

(a) Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
— Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments

The HKFRS 7 Amendments require additional disclosures about
fair value measurement and liquidity risk. Fair value
measurements related to items recorded at fair value are to be
disclosed by sources of inputs using a three-level fair value
hierarchy, by class, for all financial instruments recognised at
fair value. In addition, a reconciliation between the beginning
and ending balances is now required for level 3 fair value
measurements, as well as significant transfers between levels in
the fair value hierarchy. The amendments also clarify the
requirements for liquidity risk disclosures with respect to
derivative transactions and assets used for liquidity
management. The fair value measurement disclosures are
presented in note 34 to the financial statements while the
revised liquidity risk disclosures are presented in note 35 to the
financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bjf 75 3R 3% Mt 5F (#0)

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policy and Disclosures (continued)

(b)

(0

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments

HKFRS 8, which replaces HKAS 14 Segment Reporting, specifies
how an entity should report information about its operating
segments, based on information about the components of the
entity that is available to the chief operating decision maker for
the purposes of allocating resources to the segments and
assessing their performance. The standard also requires the
disclosure of information about the products and services
provided by the segments, the geographical areas in which the
Group operates, and revenue from the Group’s major customers.
The Group concluded that the operating segments determined
in accordance with HKFRS 8 are the same as the business
segments previously identified under HKAS 14.

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements

HKAS 1 (Revised) introduces changes in the presentation and
disclosures of financial statements. The revised standard
separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. The statement
of changes in equity includes only details of transactions with
owners, with all non-owner changes in equity presented as a
single line. In addition, this standard introduces the statement of
comprehensive income, with all items of income and expense
recognised in profit or loss, together with all other items of
recognised income and expense recognised directly in equity,
either in one single statement, or in two linked statements. The
Group has elected to present two statements.

In October 2008, the HKICPA issued its first Improvements to
HKFRSs which sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs.
Except for the amendments to HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations — Plan to sell the
controlling interest in a subsidiary which is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009, the Group adopted
all the amendments from 1 January 2009. While the adoption
of some of the amendments results in changes in accounting
policies, none of these amendments has had a significant
financial impact to the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bjf 5 3} 3 Fff 5 (&)
31 March 2010 —F—F#=F=+—H

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 (Revised)

HKFRS 1
Amendments

HKFRS 1
Amendment

HKFRS 2
Amendments

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKFRS 9

HKAS 24 (Revised)

HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 32
Amendment

HKAS 39
Amendment

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14
Amendments

First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards'

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards —
Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters®

Amendment to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards —
Limited Exemption from Comparative HKFRS 7
Disclosures for First-time Adopters*

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment
— Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment
Transactions®

Business Combinations'

Financial Instruments®
Related Party Disclosures®
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements'

Amendment to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation — Classification of Rights Issues’

Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement —
Eligible Hedged Items'

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Prepayments
of a Minimum Funding Requirement®
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bjf 75 3R 3% Mt 5F (#0)

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners'

HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity

Instruments*

Amendments to HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
— Plan to sell the controlling interest in a
subsidiary’

Amendments to
HKFRS 5
included in
Improvements to
HKFRSs issued in
October 2008

HK Interpretation 4 Leases — Determination of the Length of Lease
(Revised in Term in respect of Hong Kong Land Leases®
December 2009)

Apart from the above, the HKICPA has issued Improvements to HKFRSs
2009 and Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 which sets out amendments
to a number of HKFRSs primarily with a view to removing
inconsistencies and clarifying wording. For Improvements to HKFRSs
2009, the amendments to HKFRS 2, HKAS 38, HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 and
HK(FRIC)-Int 16 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 July 2009 while the amendments to HKFRS 5, HKFRS 8, HKAS 1,
HKAS 7, HKAS 17, HKAS 36 and HKAS 39 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010. For Improvements to
HKFRSs 2010, the amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKAS 1, HKAS
34 and HK(IFRIC)-13 are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2010 while the amendments to HKFRS 3 and HKAS 27
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010.
There are separate transitional provisions for each standard or
interpretation listed above.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

o v oA W N =

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact
of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial application. So far, the
Group is not yet in a position to state whether these new and revised
HKFRSs would have a significant impact on the Group’s result of
operations and financial position.
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24 FEEFBREE

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies the
Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to obtain benefits from
its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company’s interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than deferred tax assets,
financial assets and investment property), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less
costs to sell, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of
those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case, the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the period in
which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with
the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwiill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the income statement in the period in
which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for in
accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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24 FEEFBREE @)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries,
(i) controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with,
the Group; (i) has an interest in the Group that gives it significant
influence over the Group; or (iii) has joint control over the Group;

(b)  the party is an associate;
(©)  the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(d) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group;

(e)  the party is a close member of the family of any individual
referred to in (a) or (d);

(f)  the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by or for which significant voting power
in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (d) or (e); or

(g) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of
the employees of the Group, or of any entity that is a related
party of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after
items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation,
such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the income
statement in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciation.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 24

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for
this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold building 2.5% or over the lease terms, whichever

is shorter

Leasehold improvements 30% or over the lease terms, whichever
is shorter

Office equipment 30%

Computer equipment 30%

Furniture and fixtures 20%

Motor vehicles 30%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis
among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the income statement in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Investment property

An investment property is an interest in land and buildings held to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business.
Such property is measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, an investment property is stated at
fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of an investment
property are included in the income statement in the year in which
they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the income statement in the year of the
retirement or disposal.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bjf 75 3R 3% Mt 5F (#0)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or
indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the income statement as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised
and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the technical
feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available
for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell
the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and the ability to
measure reliably the expenditure during the development. Product
development expenditure which does not meet these criteria is
expensed when incurred.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are accounted for as
finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the
leased asset is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease
payments and recorded together with the obligation, excluding the
interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held
under capitalised finance leases are included in property, plant and
equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and
the estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such leases
are charged to the income statement so as to provide a constant
periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing nature
are accounted for as finance leases, but are depreciated over their
estimated useful lives.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the
Group is the lessee, rentals payable under the operating leases are
charged to the income statement on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially stated
at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis over
the lease terms. When the lease payments cannot be allocated
reliably between the land and buildings elements, the entire lease
payments are included in the cost of the land and buildings as a
finance lease in property, plant and equipment.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, and
available-for-sale financial investments, or as derivatives designated
as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The
Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial
recognition. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are
measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair
value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace.

62 PROSTEN TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010

HE (%)

NEERERBE 2BRE Dm0 5
AFEZBH  BIEEERY - HAKER
HEA - AKERELEHOLEZEEY
SRAERBEE  MEEHEOBETEEEE A
NESAEHERRFARSER - HAKEE
ARA AIREHEOBTRERNES NEREZE
HEMANEEERTE -

ReEMNZ BN HBON TN FREART
R EERREEMAAEREER - HAEEN
RERA AT RET 2 RFETOR -
EHENREERYME BMELRBZVMBHE
EIEL M RIBT Z KA -

RERHMEHMEE

VR KA E
REELEGALEYNFEREE L ERMEER
BANBREAFEEINRRERRREE 2
EREE BERMERFERAHEESRE
E XOoBERBERBRE THIERLHMTA
MITET R - REER VT HERSETE LR
BENR TREERVNFHEIARARFEE
AE R FRAFEEIRRERSEREE
ZEREMS  AREERERZERE -

ERMEEZMBRREEMRNRZ S B (AL
BAEBERLEZEEZAY) TAER -
FREBNERRB -—RMSHEXENE—TF
HRAARXNEEZERMEERE -



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bjf 75 3R 3% Mt 5F (#0)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
sale in the near term. This category includes derivative financial
instruments entered into by the Group that are not designated as
hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by HKAS 39.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the income statement. These net
fair value changes do not include any dividends on these financial
assets, which are recognised in accordance with the policies set out
for “Revenue recognition” below.

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (held for trading) to assess whether the intent to sell them in the
near term is still appropriate. When the Group is unable to trade
these financial assets due to inactive markets and management’s
intent to sell them in the foreseeable future significantly changes, the
Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets in rare
circumstances. The reclassification from financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss to loans and receivables, available-for-sale
financial assets or held-to-maturity investments depends on the nature
of the assets.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as separate
derivatives and recorded at fair value if their economic characteristics
and risks are not closely related to those of the host contracts and
the host contracts are not held for trading or designated at fair value
through profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the income
statement. Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms
of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would
otherwise be required.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 24 FEETBREE (&)
Investments and other financial assets (continued) REREMERMEE (H)
Loans and receivables B R MR
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or B3N ERE IE?%E*@’IE‘RTFKEH b/ =]
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. WELERMSREZIITESREE - RV
After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at WETEk RSEEHBERIBBAEFER

amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in the income statement.
The loss arising from impairment is recognised in the income statement.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial
assets. Equity investments classified as available for sale are those
which are neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair
value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those
which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and
which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to
changes in the market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments are
subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains or losses
recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale
investment valuation reserve until the investment is derecognised, at
which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the income
statement, or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at
which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the income
statement and removed from the available-for-sale investment
valuation reserve. Interest and dividends earned are reported as
interest income and dividend income, respectively and are recognised
in the income statement as other income in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot be reliably
measured because (a) the variability in the range of reasonable fair
value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities
of the various estimates within the range cannot be reasonably
assessed and used in estimating fair value, such securities are stated at
cost less any impairment losses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bjf 75 3R 3% Mt 5F (#0)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial invesments (continued)

The Group evaluates its available-for-sale financial investments
whether the ability and intention to sell them in the near term are
still appropriate. When the Group is unable to trade these financial
assets due to inactive markets and management’s intent to do so
significantly changes in the foreseeable future, the Group may elect
to reclassify these financial assets in rare circumstances. Reclassification
to loans and receivables is permitted when the financial assets meet
the definition of loans and receivables and the Group has the intent
and ability to hold these assets for the foreseeable future or to
maturity. The reclassification to the held-to-maturity category is
permitted only when the entity has the ability and intent to hold until
the maturity date of the financial asset.

For a financial asset reclassified out of the available-for-sale category,
any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised in
equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of the
investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference between
the new amortised cost and the expected cash flows is also amortised
over the remaining life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If
the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired, then the
amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the income statement.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss
event”) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that
can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation and observable data indicating that there
is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses
individually whether objective evidence of impairment exists for
financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets
that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in
a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have
not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated future
cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for
measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an
allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the
income statement. Interest income continues to be accrued on the
reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest
used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any
associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a
future write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the
income statement.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair
value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial
asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bjf 75 3R 3% Mt 5F (#0)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at the
end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that
an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the
difference between its cost (net of any principal payment and
amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in the income statement, is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the income statement.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline in
the fair value of an investment below its cost. The determination of
what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgement. “Significant”
is evaluated against the original cost of the investment and
“prolonged” against the period in which the fair value has been below
its original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the
cumulative loss — measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that investment previously recognised in the income statement —
is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the
income statement. Impairment losses on equity instruments classified
as available for sale are not reversed through the income statement.
Increases in their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in
other comprehensive income.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control
of the asset.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 24 FEETBREE (&)
Derecognition of financial assets (continued) HEERLREE (&)
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from AASEEEZEEEZEEEWRRERE 2#
an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has MBI —HENZH - BN EREESNRE
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards ZIEEBEZBRIDRB KRB R - B EEE

of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised
to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in
an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the
classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case
of loans and borrowings, plus directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, finance lease
payables, convertible bonds, derivative component of convertible
bonds and other monetary liabilities.

Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification
as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss includes financial
liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon
initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired
for the purpose of selling in the near term. This category includes
derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are
not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as
defined by HKAS 39. Separated embedded derivatives are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognised in the income statement. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the income statement does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bjf 75 3R 3% Mt 5F (#0)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in
the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate method amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the income statement.

Convertible bonds

The component of convertible bonds that exhibits characteristics of a
liability is recognised as a liability in the statement of financial
position, net of transaction costs. On issuance of convertible bonds,
the fair value of the liability component is determined as the
remainder of the proceeds to the embedded derivative instrument;
and this amount is carried as a liability on the amortised cost basis
until extinguished on conversion or redemption. Transaction costs are
apportioned between the liability and equity components of the
convertible bonds based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability
and equity components when the instruments are first recognised.

If the conversion option of convertible bonds exhibits characteristics
of an embedded derivative, it is separated from its liability
component. On initial recognition, the derivative component of the
convertible bonds is measured at fair value and presented as part of
derivative financial instruments. Any excess of proceeds over the
amount initially recognised as the derivative component is recognised
as the liability component. The carrying amount of the derivative
component is remeasured in subsequent years. Transaction costs are
apportioned between the liability and derivative components of the
convertible bonds based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability
and derivative components when the instruments are initially
recognised. The portion of the transaction costs relating to the
liability component is recognised initially as part of the liability. The
portion relating to the derivative component is recognised
immediately in the income statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bjf 5 3} % Fff 5 (&)
31 March 2010 —F—F#=F=4+—H

FEETBRBE (&)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 24

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and
a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if, and only if, there
is currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active
markets is determined by reference to quoted market prices or dealer
price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short
positions), without any deduction for transaction costs. For financial
instruments where there is no active market, the fair value is
determined using appropriate valuation techniques. Such techniques
include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the
current market value of another instrument which is substantially the
same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and other valuation models.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statements of financial position, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term
deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted
as to use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bt 75 3R 3% Mt 5 (#0)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
income statement.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to
the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

3 where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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24 FEEFBREE#)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses,
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

3 in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bt 75 3R 3% Mt 5 (#0)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be measured
reliably, on the following bases:

(@  from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, provided that
the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the
degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective control
over the goods sold;

(b)  solution integration services and wireless mobile value added
services income, when the relevant services have been
rendered;

() interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset;

(d) investment income, when the policyholders’ right to receive
payment has been established; and

(e) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established.

Employee benefits
Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates two share option schemes for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including Directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at
the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined with
reference to an independent firm of professionally qualified valuers
using an appropriate pricing model, further details of which are given
in note 28 to the financial statements.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payment transactions (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which
the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the income statement for a period represents the movement
in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest,
except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is conditional
upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the awards are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payment transaction, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any
award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either the
Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are
treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as
described in the previous paragraph. All cancellations of equity-settled
transaction awards are treated equally.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bjf 75 3R 3% Mt 5 (#0)

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to the income statement as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group's employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into
the MPF Scheme.

Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China are required
to participate in the employee retirement scheme operated by the
relevant local government bureau in Mainland China. The contributions
to be borne by the Group are calculated at a certain percentage of the
salaries and wages for those eligible employees.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which
is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. Each entity in
the Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the
end of the reporting period. All differences are taken to the income
statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are currencies
other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into the
presentation currency of the Company at the exchange rates ruling
at the end of the reporting period and their income statements are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign
currency translation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in the income statement.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the
reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Determination of functional currency

The Group measures foreign currency transactions in the respective
functional currencies of the Company and its subsidiaries. In
determining the functional currencies of the entities now comprising
the Group, judgement is required to determine and consider the
currency that mainly influences sales prices of goods and services and
of the country/jurisdiction whose competitive forces and regulations
mainly determines the sales prices of goods and services; the currency
that mainly influences labour, materials and other costs of providing
goods or services; the currency in which funds from financing activities
are generated; and the currency in which receipts from operating
activities are usually retained. The functional currencies of the entities
now comprising the Group are determined based on management’s
assessment of the primary economic environment in which the entities
operate. When the indicators are mixed and the functional currency is
not obvious, management uses its judgement to determine the
functional currency that most faithfully represents the economic
effects of the underlying transactions, events and conditions.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bjf 75 3R 3% Mt 5 (#0)

Significant Accounting Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.

Impairment of trade receivables and other receivables

Impairment of trade receivables and other receivables is made based
on assessment of the recoverability of trade receivables and other
receivables. The identification of doubtful debts requires
management judgement and estimates. Where the actual outcome
or expectation in future is different from the original estimate, such
differences will have an impact on the carrying value of the
receivables as well as doubtful debt expenses or write-back of
doubtful debts in the period in which such estimate has been
changed.

Estimation of fair value of an investment property

As described in note 14 to the financial statements, the investment
property was revalued at the end of the reporting period on an open
market, existing use basis by an independent firm of professionally
qualified valuers. Such valuation was based on certain assumptions,
which are subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the
actual results. In making the estimation, the Group considers
information from a variety of sources, including current prices in an
active market for similar properties and uses assumptions that
are mainly based on market conditions existing at the end of the
reporting period.

Valuation of convertible bonds

As described in note 26 to the financial statements, the convertible
bonds included an embedded derivative that was measured at fair
value through profit or loss. The Company engaged an independent
firm of professionally qualified valuers to assist in determining the fair
value of the underlying embedded derivative. The fair value of the
embedded derivative of the convertible bonds was determined using
the binomial model. The significant inputs into the model were share
price at grant date, risk-free interest rate, conversion price, expected
volatility of the underlying shares and term of maturity. When the
actual results of the inputs differ from management’s estimate, it will
have an impact on the fair value gain or loss and the fair value of the
derivative component of the convertible bonds.

As at 31 March 2009, the fair value of the embedded financial
derivative was approximately HK$3,792,000.

31 March 2010 —E—ZF#=H=+—H

FEE R FIE R (&)

fhEt 2 TRERE

RBEHR  ATRRBRTEATRFEZEER
EEREEREERAABZERRARNTIE
B REMEGF 2 T EERRZZ EZRIRHT
Ll

JE Y BR 5k % Bt JE M 5K R R 1B

TR M5 P 75 e L A R USSR TR 1L A 8 B M AR R
H & UK IR AT B UG AR E 2 FF A R ERE - Rl
REFEEEEFEH ARG - MBRER
BRIBEHERER/FAER  ZFEZE/HR
% i At 58 5B B 2 8 R T R T (B UA e R iR B
XAREOBEBREE

REYE N FEERE
WA M 14PTL - REMECD B — B/
BEXAERMGEMAK 2B ARRNERE AR
BRETREANRTEEEENHE - BAMG
ETREE TRRET WERNETHEER
ZANGEEREREEAZR - NIEHMAE
K- AEBEZEEEMSHRUMEZ 5E
AEETBERENTE WERETERERS
HIR 2 RAER Z RaR e

A #2 iR (& 7 6 1 (8

WS R M aE26 Fr Al - AT AR B 5 B R IR
ARFEBEIIERERRREERE 2 ARITET
H - ARFEZE -—HAEESERMAERMAE
KZBIL AR HHEERBRARNITETAZ
REFEE ABRBREFZBRARTETRZAR
FEERA-BEAEAETE - RAMKANE
RABEHEEARHARANKRE BERARAN X
SARE - RERO O TRERIE R AR o M5t E
BENEREREEEENMG TR - A2y
AMBRESFITET AR D 2 A FEEKEHE
BRAFEEBRTE -

R-ZETZHAEFE=ZA=+—8 RARLRITLE
T A7 RAF(EEHAE3,792,000% T °

EENEERARAT —2-8558 ([



Significant Accounting Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Valuation of share options

As described in note 28 to the financial statements, the Company
engaged an independent firm of professionally qualified valuers to
assist in the valuation of the share options granted during the year.
The fair value of options granted under the share option schemes is
determined using the binomial model. The significant inputs into the
model were share price at grant date, risk-free interest rate, exercise
price and expected volatility of the underlying shares. When the
actual results of the inputs differ from management's estimate, it will
have an impact on share option expenses and the related share
option reserve of the Company. The fair value of the share options
granted during the year by the Company was HK$3,740,000 (2009:
HK$3,986,000). Further details of the share options are set out in
note 28 to the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. The
carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to recognised tax losses
at 31 March 2010 was HK$4,990,000 (2009: HK$8,377,000). Further
details are set out in note 17 to the financial statements.

Operating Segment Information

The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” with effect
from 1 April 2009. An operating segment is a component of the
Group that engages in business activities from which the Group may
earn revenues and incur expenses, and is identified on the basis of
the internal financial reports that are provided to and regularly
reviewed by the Group’s chief operating decision makers in order to
allocate resources and assess performance of the segment.

For the years presented, the chief operating decision makers have
determined that the Group has only one single operating segment as
the Group is principally engaged in wireless mobile value added
services and related business which is the basis to allocate resources
and assess performance. No geographical information is presented as
the Group’s customers and operations are located in Mainland China.

Information about major customers

During the year ended 31 March 2010, revenues of approximately
HK$53,115,000 and HK$8,650,000 were derived from services
rendered to two customers. During the year ended 31 March 2009,
revenue of approximately HK$89,981,000 was derived from services
rendered to a single customer.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bjf 75 3R 3% Mt 5 (#0)

Revenue, Other Income and Gains

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the net

invoiced value of services rendered during the year.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:
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2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-ZF —ZEENEF
FB T T
Revenue I 2
Services income AR 75 Uz A 69,141 109,477
Other income Hebug A
Bank interest income RITH B HA 710 975
Investment income wEWA 534 570
Write back of trade payables & 1+ B 7% [B] 1% 696 73
Others Hi 168 625
2,108 2,243
Gains W 3=
Gain on disposal of items of property, LEWME  BERZMBEEE
plant and equipment g — 175
Fair value gain on equity investments BATEEYERERSE
at fair value through profit or loss BRI ZBEEERE 2 AFEE RS 1,325 —
Fair value gain on an investment property REMEZ AT EAKZ
(note 14) (HizE14) 898 —
2,223 175
4,331 2,418
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bjf %5 3R 3% Mt 5 (@)

31 March 2010 —E—FF=H=+—f

6. Profit/(Loss) Before Tax 6.

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/

Br#iAIEF,(E548)
AEBZBRBANGR,(BER) &Ik (GtA)

(crediting): THF IR
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
—E-FF —ETNEF
FE T FHET
Cost of services provided* TR AR A B A * 16,073 19,349
Depreciation e 1,985 2,316
Minimum lease payments under operating leases: &£ E&EMA &K
Land and buildings T REF 5,689 5,704
Motor vehicles RE 218 403
Auditors’ remuneration % R0 BN & 820 1,028
Employee benefit expense EERAMX
(including Directors’ remuneration (note 8)): (BHEEEME (HE8)) :
Wages, salaries, allowances and benefits in kind T& - M - 2B REDHZE 25,865 29,459
Equity-settled share option arrangements J«M}E*ﬁiﬁzﬁﬁﬂx%?#k 1,526 2,461
Pension scheme contributions RIKE IR
(defined contribution schemes) (REMHZTE) 4,751 4,939
Severance payments B S 1,192 384
33,334 37,243
Write off of items of property, plant and equipment ¥ % - /= K& & #12 B i #4 6 252
Impairment allowance for trade receivables JE W BR OB E 7 18 78 366
Research and development costs** it % B i B B AN+ * 2,976 4,894
Fair value loss/(gain) on equity investments RATFEBEIEREERERE 2
at fair value through profit or loss RERE 2 AT EEEBR (=) (1,325) 1,251
Fair value loss/(gain) on an investment property KEME AT EBEERE (kE) (898) 580

* The cost of services provided includes depreciation and staff costs of
HK$5,824,000 for the year ended 31 March 2010 (2009: HK$9,769,000),
which are also included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately
above.

*x The research and development costs for the year include HK$2,976,000
(2009: HK$2,534,000) relating to employee benefit expense for research
and development activities, which are also included in the employee benefit
expense disclosed separately above.

At 31 March 2010, the Group had no forfeited contributions available

to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future years
(2009: Nil).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bt 5 3} 3% Fff 5 (&)

31 March 2010 —ZF—FF=H=+—H

Finance Costs 7. BHBE&EHR
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MBBRSNAT :
Group
REE
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
—E-FF ZETNF
FHE T F& T
Interest on bank overdrafts RITEZ Z2FE 89 —
Interest on a finance lease HHEEE 2T E 29 13
118 13
Directors’ Remuneration 8. EE#N2
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the FRNEE SRR PTEIERE 5 Em AR Al
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise ([RIZER EMARA ) REB R TRAIE 16115
Market (the “GEM Listing Rules”) of the Exchange and Section WEEMT
161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:
Group
KEE
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
—E-FF ZETNF
FE T T T
Fees we 287 200
Other emoluments: HAbEH S
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e LR EYAZE 5,444 5,214
Equity-settled share option arrangements DREREE 2 BT 5 107 352
Pension scheme contributions REY N K 46 56
5,597 5,622
5,884 5,822
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bjf 7 3§ 3% Fff 5 (&)
31 March 2010 —E—ZFF=H=+—H

8. Directors’ Remuneration (continued) 8 EEiM2w@
(a) Independent non-executive Directors @) BIUFBTES
The fees paid to independent non-executive Directors during RERINTFBEILFHTEET2HES
the year are as follows: R
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-ZF —ETNEF
FET FH&T
Mr. James T. Siano James T. Siano %t & = =
Ms. Tse Yuet Ling, Justine HAK L L 100 100
Ms. Lai May Lun REMmI T 100 100
200 200
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent FAWEEMEN TR IIENTESZ
non-executive Directors during the year (2009: Nil). e (ZETNE : &) -
(b) Executive Directors and non-executive Directors (b) HITEERIITES
The emoluments of each Director are as follows: BEFZHE0T -
Salaries, Equity-settled
allowances and share option Pension scheme
benefits in kind arrangements contributions Total
Fees Ec A= 4! DREREHEZ Bfk£  remuneration
ko REYF = BRETH SRR [EF5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
2010 —m_Tf
Executive Directors: MITES -
Mr. Yip Heon Ping EmFEE — 2,025 — 8 2,033
Mr. Yip Heon Wai EmgE L — 661 — 4 665
Mr. Yip Heon Keung )58 5 & — 2,000 — 12 2,012
Mr. Guan Ming lie BHARNELE 87 758 107 22 974
87 5,444 107 46 5,684
Non-executive Directors: JEMITES :
Dr. Xu Zhiming FTEBAE L — — — — —
Mr. Zhang Ying SRFE L = = = — —
87 5,444 107 46 5,684
Mr. Yip Heon Ping was appointed as an executive Director of EMTFEERZZENFNABES
the Company on 6 August 2009. Mr. Yip Heon Wai and Mr. EARRABZHITES - ERBELER
Guan Ming Jie retired as executive Directors of the Company ERARNEEB_ZETAFLA=THRE
since 30 July 2009 and Mr. Yip Heon Wai remained as an BREARRBIMITES MEMAELE
employee of the Group. Mr. Yip Heon Wai’s salaries, allowances MAARXEENES - BEM#ELEEERR
and benefits in kind paid to him in his capacity as an employee SEEEEN TR 2H ZUMREY
of the Group have not been included as part of his Director’s MW EAAERFEZEEHEA o

remuneration for the year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) B 5 3} 3% Y 5 (&)
31 March 2010 —E—ZF#F=H=1+—H

Directors’ Remuneration (continued) 8.

(b) Executive Directors and non-executive Directors
(continued)

EEiE @

(b)

HITESERFITES (H)

Salaries,
allowances and

Equity-settled
share option  Pension scheme

benefits in kind arrangements contributions Total
Fees e Rl UAEREEZ BRRE remuneration
wne REYH = FBAR e e AT &I B & 42 5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHT FHT

2009 —TTAF

Executive Directors: HITEE -
Mr. Yip Heon Wai R E — 2,000 — 12 2,012
Mr. Yip Heon Keung AR E — 2,000 — 12 2,012
Mr. Guan Ming Jie BHAREE — 1,214 352 32 1,598
— 5,214 352 56 5,622

Non-executive Directors: ERITES -

Dr. Xu Zhiming e RiE 1 - . - o -
Mr. Zhang Ying RFELE = = — — —
— 5,214 352 56 5,622

Mr. Guan Ming Jie was appointed as an executive Director of
the Company on 16 September 2008. The salaries, allowances
and benefits in kind including the equity-settled share option
arrangements, paid to him in his capacity as an employee of
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2009 have not
been included as part of his Director’s remuneration for that year.

There was no arrangement under which a Director waived or agreed
to waive any emoluments during the year (2009: Nil).

Five Highest Paid Employees 9.

The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2009:
three) Directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8
above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining two (2009: two)
non-Director, highest paid employees for the year are as follows:

ERARAEER-_ZZENFALA+NEE
RERKRABTES  REE_FTT
NF=ZA=+T—RLLFE HER/LE
EREENTRZHES FUREDFH
B(BRAREAEZBRERY) L&
RRARFEZEEZHNEA -

FAYTEEERRXFAEREEAMES 2 25
(ZFTIhF |-

IEZmBEHES

FALEERFHERRE=2(=ZFA
F:ZR)EF EMEHBE R LXK ES
oo FRNEHMBH(ZTZNF: W) I
EEBRHFEENEHEMFEBET

Group
REH
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E2-EF —ETNF
FET FAET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e ZELREMHNE 2,698 2,196
Pension scheme contributions EIRE R B 20 24
2,718 2,220

RENEEZRERAT T —ZHFH
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31 March 2010 —E—FF=H=+—F8

9. Five Highest Paid Employees (continued) 9. HEEEHES(H)
The number of non-Director, highest paid employees whose HMEBEBRIUTNER ZEEEESEHREE AR
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: U
Number of employees
BEAH
2010 2009
—E-FF —ZTENF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = % 1,000,000 7T — 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 % 7T 2 1,500,0007% 7T 2 —
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T £ 2,000,0007% JT. — 1
2 2

10. Income Tax 10. FiE#H
Hong Kong profits tax has not been provided as the Group did not HARAEERFRNREBRITE S ERD R A
generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year (Z2ZNF : 8)  WERNLBELEENG
(2009: Nil). Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been Ttz Bl o E b [= fERR T 7 2 BLIE AR BR
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries or jurisdictions REEREEBHMEZ BRI ANEERE M 2
in which the Group operates. WITHEE -
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-ZF —ZEENF
FHT FHET
Group: NEF :
Current — Elsewhere BIER — H fth 3 [2
Charge for the year FAXH 362 4,261
Overprovision in prior years N FEREREE = (2,401)
Deferred (note 17) PFEIE (FFE17) 3,408 3,701
Total tax charge for the year FRRIER HERE 3,770 5,561
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Income Tax (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax charge/(credit) applicable to profit/(loss)
before tax at the statutory tax rates for the jurisdictions in which the

10. FRR#H (&)

NERARARBREETEWNBER
ERREEREFE BB ARFN,(&8)

4a 8 F e

Company and its principal subsidiaries operate to the tax charge at ZHEIE (BR) BRERBETEZH
the effective tax rate, is as follows: Bz $RIAT -
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-ZF —TENF
FHE T FHBT
Profit/(loss) before tax MBI R (E58) (3,035) 21,197
Tax credit at the Hong Kong profits tax rate of REBFFHHE165%
16.5% (2009: 16.5%) (ZTTNF : 165%) T H 2 BiEE S (3,098) (3,351)
Tax expense at the Mainland China statutory & I j(ﬁi/ZrtfRWZS 0%
tax rate of 25.0% (2009: 25.0%) (ZZZTNF : 250%) st EZBIEM Bio02 10,393
Lower applicable tax rate enjoyed by the Group KREBZF 7 BKE X (790) (3,578)
Estimated tax effect of income that are not BEARMMA Z BT HBTE
subject to tax (1,311) (1,391)
Estimated tax effect of expenses that are not T TE FE AR B i ) RF A AT 410
deductible in determining taxable profit AXzhatiiiGwe 4,881 3,929
Estimated tax losses not recognised REBRZ AT HIBER 166 800
Effect of withholding tax at 5% on the RSB B ARE 2 —E
distributable profits of a Group’s subsidiary Bt /&8 A 71 7] 99 I St ) 5% #8511
in Mainland China SR a -2 = 1,160
Adjustments in respect of current tax of prior years gt A 1+ 5 E BIEARS B /E H 2 S 2 — (2,401)
Tax charge at the Group’s effective tax rate RAEEERBEFE 2 REBEZH 3,770 5,561
During the 5th Session of the 10th National People’s Congress, which ETEZEARRXRARGERRGHHAM (R

was concluded on 16 March 2007, a new set of the PRC Corporate
Income Tax Law (the “New Corporation Income Tax Law"”) was
approved and became effective on 1 January 2008. The New
Corporate Income Tax Law introduces a wide range of changes which SIA—
include, but are not limited to, the unification of the income tax rate

for domestic-invested and foreign-invested enterprises at 25%.

Pursuant to the notice on the Implementation Rules for Grandfather
Relief under the New Corporate Income Tax Law issued by the State
Council of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") on 26
December 2007, effective from 1 January 2008, the preferential tax

—ERLFE=HFANBER)
EMBRAENHEEMEHE]) BE
RE-ZZENF-H-BER - MEERBTR
ES LT
EEMEVER—

R E D
HE /I

C BIEERERERE RINE
H25% o

REFEARKNMBE((FEDBEHEER-"FF
TEF A TARBEREBEIR-_ZZNF—H
—BRER AR EEMETEBEEEK
ﬁi:%‘ﬁ 2B &

A REERPELE 2 HE

enjoyed by Unison Networking Services (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
(“Unison™), a subsidiary of the Group operating in the PRC, is subject
to the annual renewal requirement. The existing preferential income
tax rate pertaining to Prosten Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
("Prosten SH"), a subsidiary of the Group operating in the PRC, will
gradually transit to the applicable tax rate of 25%.

AEGEHEBREMRE(L8) BRAR (4
DEBEZEBBHEABFES - AEERS
Rz B A TEi%%Lﬁﬂ&(iﬂﬁ
RArl((RELE])BEBERZEERMEH
o, SR 32 T 8 B A i AR B R 25% ©
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10.

11.

12.

Income Tax (continued)

Unison is approved as a High-New Technology Enterprise (“HNTE")
for a three-year period from 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2010.
Under the New Corporate Income Tax Law, Unison can enjoy the
preferential tax rate of 15% for the period from 2008 to 2010 if it
can satisfy the qualification for the HNTE throughout the period. For
the years ended 31 March 2010 and 2009, Unison was qualified as
an HNTE.

For the year ended 31 March 2010, Prosten SH was subject to a
preferential tax rate of 20% (2009: 18%) and had unutilised tax
losses brought forward from prior years. Therefore, Prosten SH was
not subject to PRC Corporate Income Tax for the year.

Loss Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company

The consolidated loss attributable to equity holders of the Company
for the year ended 31 March 2010 includes a loss of approximately
HK$7,406,000 (2009: HK$3,947,000) which has been dealt with in
the financial statements of the Company (note 29(b)).

Earnings/(Loss) per Share Attributable to Equity Holders
of the Company

The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share is based on the loss
for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company
of HK$6,805,000 (2009: a profit of HK$15,636,000), and the
weighted average number of 636,978,014 (2009: 597,548,973)
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share amount
presented for the year ended 31 March 2010 in respect of a dilution
as the impact of the share options outstanding and fair value loss on
derivative component of convertible bonds had anti-dilutive effects
on the basic loss per share amount presented.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31
March 2009 was based on the profit for that year attributable to
ordinary equity holders of the Company of HK$15,636,000, less the
fair value gain on the derivative component of convertible bonds of
HK$4,827,000. The weighted average number of ordinary shares of
634,971,984 used in this calculation was the total of the number of
ordinary shares in issue during that year as used in the basic earnings
per share calculation, the weighted average number of ordinary
shares on deemed exercise of all share options during that year
assuming issuance at no consideration of 7,423,011, and deemed
conversion of all convertible bonds of 30,000,000.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bt 75 3R 3% Mt 5 (#0)

13. Property, Plant and Equipment

31 March 2010 —E—ZF#=H=+—H

13. Y% - BERRE

Group rEE
Office and
computer
Leasehold equipment,
building in furniture
Mainland Leasehold and fixtures
China improvements WRAER Motor
A B K BE HE ERZ#E-  vehicles Total
ZHEEF MERE KAREE RE #mat
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
F#ET FHET FTHET FHET FHET
31 March 2010 —E—=F
=A=+-—H
Cost: RA{E
At beginning of year REA 1,385 1,167 14,089 2,534 19,175
Additions NE — 282 424 1,158 1,864
Disposals e — — (93) — (93)
Write-off 1 85 — (111) (1,602) — (1,713)
Exchange realignment P 5 3 £ — 4 a1 10 55
At 31 March 2010 RZZE—ZTF
=A=+—H 1,385 1,342 12,859 3,702 19,288
Accumulated depreciation ZE:iITE RREE :
and impairment:
At beginning of year REA) 142 1,025 12,227 881 14,275
Provided for the year F R B 34 219 1,008 724 1,985
Disposals e — — (89) — (89)
Write-off 85 — (111) (1,596) — (1,707)
Exchange realignment b 55, 5 B — 4 37 5 46
At 31 March 2010 RZZE—ZTF
=A=+—H 176 1,137 11,587 1,610 14,510
Net book value: BRTEH FE
At 31 March 2010 RZZE—FF
=ERZEF—E 1,209 205 1,272 2,092 4,778
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bjf 5 3} % Fff 5 (&)
31 March 2010 —F—F#=F=4+—H

13. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued) 13. Y% - MERRE (@)

Group (continued) AEME (F)
Office and
computer
Leasehold equipment,
building in furniture
Mainland Leasehold and fixtures
China improvements WRAER Motor
A B K pE HE ERZ#E-  vehicles Total
ZHEEETF MERE KRREE RE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET FTHET FHET FHET
31 March 2009 —EBhEF
=A=t+-—H
Cost: A E
At beginning of year REF] 1,385 1,144 24,293 1,143 27,965
Additions NE — 3 1,191 2,079 3,273
Disposals & — — (201) (699) (900)
Write-off 1 85 = — (11,428) — (11,428)
Exchange realignment P 5 3 £ — 20 234 11 265
At 31 March 2009 RZZEZNF
=A=+—H 1,385 1,167 14,089 2,534 19,175
Accumulated depreciation ZE:iHITE RREE :
and impairment:
At beginning of year REF] 107 744 21,861 1,113 23,825
Provided for the year FE R 35 268 1,558 455 2,316
Disposals He — — (201) (699) (900)
Write-off Hi 85 = — (11,176) — (11,176)
Exchange realignment PEE 5 3 X — 13 185 12 210
At 31 March 2009 RZZEZNF
=A=+—H 142 1,025 12,227 881 14,275
Net book value: BRTEH FE
At 31 March 2009 RZZETNF
—A=+—H 1,243 142 1,862 1,653 4,900

AEEZHESBFUARBEOFE - X HE
N

The Group’s leasehold building is held under a long term lease and is
situated in Mainland China.

AEBERBUBHEERE2ME  BE LEE
ZEEFERER-_ZE—ZTF=A=1+—HZ
T E B {E304,0008 L (Z =T NF © 460,000
YSIL) °

The net book value of the Group’s property, plant and equipment
held under a finance lease included in the total amount of motor
vehicles at 31 March 2010 amounted to HK$304,000 (2009:
HK$460,000).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bt 75 3R 3% Mt 5 (#0)
31 March 2010 —FE—ZF4#=HA=1+—H

14. Investment Property 14. HEYE
Group
REE
2010 2009
HK$’'000 HK$'000
—E-EF —FFNF
FExT FAT
Carrying amount at beginning of year REY 2 REE 1,888 2,408
Exchange realignment R 1 60
Fair value adjustment NFEBEERE 898 (580)
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=1t—RZzKHE 2,797 1,888
The Group’s investment property was revalued on 31 March 2010 by Jones AEBZREMERBLIHEES EEKEER
Lang LaSalle Sallmanns Limited, an independent firm of professionally TR EBTEMEBERQARERITASRUARER
qualified valuers, at HK$2,797,000 (2009: HK$1,888,000) on an open MERERENR _ZT—ZFTF=A=+—HEMKA
market, existing use basis. 2,797,000/ 7T (ZZZT S 1 1,888,000/&7T) °
The Group’s investment property is held under a long term lease and AEB 2 REYMERBRABAORES - Etvik
its address is Room 807, Entrance 1, Level 7, Building 25, No. Yi 36, A B R R R R E PN 23657255027
Dongzhimenwai Street, Dongcheng District, Beijing, the PRC, for the BISEAD807E - AEEEEM A% -
use as a residential unit.
15. Interests in Subsidiaries 15. RBASZH#EDR
Company
AT
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-ZF —ZETNEF
FTERT FAT
Unlisted shares, at cost EETIRG - A 27,445 27,445
Due from subsidiaries I ENGIE ¢ 385,728 397,007
413,173 424,452
Impairment BB (393,850) (393,850)
19,323 30,602
The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and FEWH B A R AR - £ R RBERR
will not be repayable within the next twelve months from the end of HERABET AR K1218 A RELR -

the reporting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bjf 7 3§ 3% Fff 5 (&)
31 March 2010 —E—FF=H=+—H
R BAT ZH#ZE (&)

RZE—ZF=ZA=+—H ' XAREZHE
RNAZFEBWOT

15. Interests in Subsidiaries (continued) 15.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March
2010 are as follows:

Nominal value
of issued
ordinary share/

Place of
incorporation/
registration and

Percentage of
equity ownership
attributable to

operations registered capital the Company
Name A HfMR ERTEBERS AQFEMEER  Principal activities
=r EEME AMERZEE BEEAS L FEXK
Prosten (BVI) Limited* British Virgin Islands, Us$21,025 100  Investment holding
limited liability company** 21,0253 7T REER
EBELHES
EREFERA**
Prosten Technology Co. Hong Kong, HK$1,000,000 100  Investment holding
Limited limited liability company 1,000,0007% 7T RE =R
RERBRERAQA] B%E - BREEAQF
Prolink Technology Limited Hong Kong, HK$5 100  Investment holding
BRI AR A A limited liability company 57 TT KEER
B BREEAA
Worldly Limited Hong Kong, HK$10,000 100  Investment holding
Mz=FIBR A limited liability company 10,0007 7T &R
B BREEAA
Prosten Technology PRC, wholly-foreign-owned US$3,500,000 100 Provision of solution
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd.* enterprise with 3,500,000 J© integration and
RIEBBBMABH limited liability wireless mobile
(E8)BRAA* HEC ANEEE value added services
BEREERE REBRTRES
KB IR E RS
Unison Networking PRC, wholly-foreign-owned Us$1,500,000 100  Provision of solution
Services (Shanghai) enterprise with 1,500,000 7T integration and
Co., Ltd.* limited liability wireless mobile
755 M s BT IR 7% HECINEEE value added services
(L&) BRAR BREERE RHEMBATRES
KRR B 1L E RS
* The statutory financial statements of these subsidiaries were not audited by * WEMB AR ZAEMBHRRLIFHLKE

B = 15 P ek 22 K B AT AN F A5 AT 2 PR A4 2
HAppk 8 R RIEX o

Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other member firm of the Ernst & Young
global network.

o ZMBARZEMR I A RBELES

o The subsidiary’s place of incorporation is British Virgin Islands and it is
operated in Hong Kong.
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16.

17.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bt 75 3R 3% Mt 5 (#0)

31 March 2010 —E—ZF#=H=+—H

Interests in Subsidiaries (continued) 15. RBAT ZHZ (8)
Except for Prosten (BVI) Limited, all other subsidiaries are indirectly R Prosten (BVI) Limited#h + FT 8 H b Bff B A 7135
held by the Company. AAARIMERE -
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the ERAVABESRATENEARAFEZEER
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for the year BRAEEEERFEZEEZRD 2 AR AN E
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To DA BEERR  HHEAMMER R 2F1EK
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the LERBERITE -
Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
Available-for-sale Investments 16. TIHHERS
Group
REER
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-ZF —FENF
FET FHEIT
Club debentures, at cost EES KA 796 796
As at the end of the reporting period, club debentures were stated at RERER - @MEFERKIATIER  RERAMS
cost as the Directors are of the opinion that their fair values cannot be RZERLCERG  EFRRATEBERER
measured reliably with the lack of frequent transactions in the market. FE c AEEEERTABREEZSES °
The Group does not intend to dispose of them in the near future.
Deferred Tax 17. BEBIE
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year RLERBEERBBERFRAZELEOT ¢
are as follows:
Deferred tax assets BEEREEE
Group REE Losses available for
offsetting against future
taxable profits
A] A B K 85 R 2R FE SR BLR Rl
ZEE
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-EF —TENF
FE T FHT
At beginning of year REH] 8,377 10,600
Deferred tax charged to the FARBERERNRZ
income statement during the year (note 10) IRIEFRE (MT5£E10) (3,408) (2,541)
Exchange realignment [ H 3 B 21 318
At 31 March R=A=+—H 4,990 8,377

In addition, the Group has tax losses arising in another subsidiary in
Mainland China of HK$4,672,000 (2009: Nil) that will expire in five
years for offsetting against future taxable profit. Deferred tax assets
have not been recognised in respect of these losses as it is uncertain
that taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can
be utilised by this subsidiary.

N REE A FRBEARENS —HEH B A
BEEMIBE1E4,672,0008 T (ZETNF ¢
) EBRAFEESBMTAEAREHEA
RIERBHT] o AR REETETE =G B ERBE
EH AR EZM B AR 2 REEE - B
BRZEEEERECHEBEEE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bjf 5 3} % Fff 5 (&)
31 March 2010 —F—F#=F=4+—H

17. Deferred Tax (continued) 17. BEBIE(8)
Deferred tax liabilities BEEHEEE
Group REE Withholding taxes
TR
2010 2009
HK$’'000 HK$'000
—E-FF —TTNF
FET FHBIT
At beginning of year REA]) 1,160 —
Withholding taxes paid during the year FRE N zFENF (1,160) —
Deferred tax charged to the income FARBR KRG 2 RLERIA
statement during the year (note 10) (Fr3E10) — 1,160
At 31 March R=A=+—H — 1,160

Pursuant to the New Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors
from the foreign investment enterprises established in the PRC. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between China and the respective
jurisdiction of the foreign investors.

As at 31 March 2010, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes as there was no unremitted earnings of the
Group's subsidiaries that are subject to withholding taxes in Mainland
China. During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group charged
HK$1,160,000 of deferred tax to the income statement for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings
of a subsidiary of the Group established in the PRC.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) B 5 3} 3% Y 5 (&)
31 March 2010 —FE—ZF#=H=4+—H

18. Trade Receivables 18. FEUERFR
Group
rEH
2010 2009
HK$’'000 HK$'000
—E-EF —ZTNE
TERT FAT
Trade receivables JiE U BR 3R 16,416 25,216
Impairment allowances BB (446) (7,716)
15,970 17,500
The Group’s trade receivables, which generally have credit terms of REBEBHEHNZHRTE  NEBEZBYRR—R
one month to three months pursuant to the provisions of the relevant AE—HAZE=EA 2 EEH - BURFIZIR
contracts, are recognised and carried at the original invoice amount, RBERSETUERLINE - WETHAEE
and an estimate of impairment allowance for trade receivables is B 5 2 &0 5 58 A 1 I FE WK AR RORL (B B B ik 5T
made and deducted when collection of the full amount is no longer I T AR - AREFEEASHEERR
probable. There is a significant concentration of credit risk as over RARBBRIT%(ZZENFE | 83%) Z &R
77% (2009: 83%) of the balance represented a receivable from one RBER—ZRF ZHIE - RIMBRFKTET R ©
customer. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.
An aging analysis of the Group’s trade receivables, net of allowances AEERKER(CNRERS) RBERER
and based on the invoice date, is as follows: 2R DTAT
Group
rEH
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
—E-EF —ZEENF
TERT FAET
0 to 3 months 0=3fEA 15,970 17,489
4 to 6 months AZ6ME A — 11
15,970 17,500
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31 March 2010 —E—FF=H=+—F8

18. Trade Receivables (continued) 18.

The movements in impairment allowance for trade receivables are
as follows:

FEE Mg B 35K (4)
FEM PR TR E R B2 ZEHIMT -

Group

RER
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-EF —TENF
FHET FHET
At beginning of year REA]) 7,716 40,326
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) ERERREEE (HiE6) 78 366
Amount written off as uncollectible k97 EINTITE i e k= (7,349) (33,208)
Exchange realignment [ 5, 3R =& 1 232
At 31 March R=A=+—H 446 7,716

The above impairment allowances for trade receivables are
allowances for individually impaired trade receivables with a
carrying amount before provision of HK$446,000 (2009:
HK$7,716,000). The individually impaired trade receivables relate
to customers whose balances have been overdue for a long time.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not considered
to be impaired is as follows:

bt e UK RR B 2 R E B s A B E B B ORLE
FEWEBEFIEH 2B E  HBGEA2EEES
446,000 7L (ZEZE LF | 7,716,000 7T ) °
BB RERKEREERBEEAHMNH 2T
FEB - "EEYEZSEHFTH T MAEKE
Mk e i E Bk S -

PRBSERE 2 BUIRRZ Rk TAT :

Group

rEH
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E=-ZF ZTThEF
FERT FHEIT
Neither past due nor impaired I 4% 8 B ORI (B 10,868 13,910
Less than 1 month past due BH LR E A 5,102 —
1 to 3 months past due B E3EA — 3,579
4 to 6 months past due B4z 6EA = 11
15,970 17,500

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to
several customers for whom there was no recent history of default.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bt 75 3R 3% Mt 5 (#0)

31 March 2010 —E—ZF#=H=+—H

Trade Receivables (continued) 18. FEUSRRTR (&)
Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number E@HEERECERFEBDHEBZERNE
of independent customers that have a good repayment record with EERIFERCHR BITFEA - BEUAE
the Group. Based on past experience, the Directors of the Company K ARAEERA  BRZEHEBZEER
are of the opinion that no impairment allowance is necessary in BRITESREH  BNKRAAI2ERE - &
respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change BAHZSEMRIERERE - AEEWERZ
in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. EEMRPBAEEMERRRELEMEERE
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements i o
over these balances.
Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables 19. FARRIE - STERHE M EWKRIE
Group Company
rEE RAF]
2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-FF —ZETNF ZB-ZFF —TTNF
FExT FHET FExT FAET
Prepayments Tt FRIA 617 596 143 141
Deposits and other receivables Al R E MR IE 5,600 5,228 = =
6,217 5,824 143 141
None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The financial FHAEERBEARIRE FA LRGSR S

assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for which
there was no recent history of default.

MEEIHYESR
B -

=B RO 8 2 e R
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31 March 2010 —F—F#=F=+—H

20. Equity Investments at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 20, MAFEEHIIRREEDREREZRE

®"&E
Group
NEE
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
—E-ZF ZETNEF
FH& T FHET
Hong Kong listed equity investments, B L TRERE
at market value B A 3,235 1,910
Others Hh 1 1
3,236 1,911
The above equity investments at 31 March 2010 and 2009, upon PR ZE—ZEER_ZETNF=HA=+—H
initial recognition, were designated by the Group as financial assets ZIRRERE RN IG TR - A KB IEE RIR
at fair value through profit or loss as they are managed and their ATFEEINEREEZREEZSHEE ' R
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis and information about AAZEKREEBIERRERRIEZATERA
the investments is provided on that basis to the Group's key REENE  MAEBREZER IBEZEEMR
management personnel. REBZFEEEABREM-
21. Due from Directors 21. BRESZRIE
Particulars of amounts due from the Directors, disclosed pursuant to BEBEBAMENE161BIFEE 2 EWESR
Section 161B of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, are as follows: B2 #HBOT
Maximum
amount
31 March outstanding 1 April
2010  during the year 2009
—E-TF FRES —ETNEF
Name i =B=+—H HAREEEEE MA—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FAT
Mr. Yip Heon Ping BEmFEEE 473 1,689 —
Mr. Yip Heon Wai Em gL E — — 434
Mr. Yip Heon Keung EmogfiE 230 2,255 422
703 3,944 856
The amounts due from Directors are unsecured, interest-free and are EWEE B AERIF 2 ENRERERE
repayable on demand. The carrying amounts of the amounts due BE BREFZHREZRAEEEQAFER
from Directors approximate to their fair values. HE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bjf 75 3R 3% Mt 5F (#0)

31 March 2010 —E—ZF#=H=+—H

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Pledged Deposits 22, HERREELEYREKEER
Group Company
rEE ENAN
2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-E2F —TTNF ZZT-FBF —TTNF
FET FHEIT FET FHEIT
Cash and bank balances /e MIRTTH & 21,016 38,557 3,533 11
Time deposits TFHER 49,770 43,370 — —
70,786 81,927 3,533 11
Less: Pledged time deposits: W BERERFR
Pledged for bank facilities BMIRITIEEEH IR (228) (156) = =
Cash and cash equivalents HeRIBEZEEY 70,558 81,771 3,533 11
At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances and REBRBERRAARE(TARE ) FE
time deposits of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB") 2B & RIRTT 4 84 & E HA 17 3K /338,433,000 8
amounted to HK$38,433,000 (2009: HK$80,837,000). The RMB is T (ZZEZTNF : 80,837,000 L) o AR
not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland AEREARAHEMEYE  HEREPREKREZ
China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of SMNEERIRD] - LARAE - EERMNEEER
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the E o ASEREESBEREETINERFER
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through ZRITEAREH RS HMEE
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank RITEARBEETABRITERMNEEE 2 F
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods FEHE - RHAEHGERAEH —BE=EAT
of between one day and three months depending on the immediate E RIXEEERZHFTEME @ TIRE
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective Bz BHEE BERAEG R o |RITERTFRRN
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with MV EAREELHBFEERRIFZRT - B
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. The carrying S RRESEEMAREER TR EEBEREA
amounts of the cash and cash equivalents and the pledged deposits NEEERE -
approximate to their fair values.
Trade Payables 23. FEfTERRR
An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting R EHR - BIRE B KA 2 B R R ERER
period, based on the payment due date, is as follows: DY :
Group
REE
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-ZF —ZTENF
FHET FHBIT
0 to 3 months 0& 31 H 1,061 —
4 to 6 months 4Z6ME A 60 —
6 to 12 months 6= 1218 A 102 —
Over 12 months i@ 1218 B 2,151 2,838
3,374 2,838
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled ERERRDEE  —RR=EARNEE

on three-month terms.
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24. Other Payables, Deposits Received and Accruals 24, HiFERRIE - ST & RETRIE

Group Company
RE ENNS

2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
—E-TF —TTNF —ZE-FF —_ZETNF
FExT FHT FExT FHT
Other payables H th & 5 5RIE 3,452 3,557 — —
Deposits received BWET & — 1,107 — —
Accruals FEFT5RIB 4,768 12,098 2,416 2,961
8,220 16,762 2,416 2,961

His IR - ERFT & RERRIB R T E
B PERMAH=EA -

Other payables, deposits received and accruals are non-interest-
bearing and have an average term of three months.

FEfT Rt R ERIE

R-ZE-—ZF=A=+—RH XEEREBEVH
HMEMEBERE  MRETATRESEEER
BRENzZEHENREBERLRERENT :

25. Finance Lease Payables 25.

As at 31 March 2010, the Group leases a motor vehicle under a
finance lease and the total future minimum lease payments under
the non-cancellable finance lease and their present values are as

follows:
Group rEE Present value of
Minimum lease minimum lease
payments payments
BRIEEEAFR REHAENRZRE
2010 2009 2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-ZF —TTNF ZT-BF —TTHhF
F&ET FH& T FET FE T
Amounts payable: FEATRRIA
Within one year —F R 159 159 145 130
In the second year FE_F 53 159 52 145
In the third to fifth years, EZFEFERF
inclusive (BHEEEMSE) — 53 — 52
Total minimum finance lease =K FHEE K
payments FEk) 212 371 197 327
Future finance charges KRR E A (15) (44)
Total net finance lease B 75 70 & e 5 OB
payables SRR 197 327
Portion classified as current liabilities NEAERBABEZHBY (145) (130)
Non-current portion IEmENER 52 197
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bjf 75 3R 3% Mt 5F (#0)

26. Convertible Bonds and Embedded Financial Derivative

On 30 April 2007, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) with Tallmany Enterprises
Limited (“Tallmany”) and China Broadband Capital Partners,
L.P. (“CBC") for the issuance of five-year zero-coupon convertible
bonds (the “Convertible Bonds”) in the principal amount of
HK$28,800,000.

On 6 June 2007, the Convertible Bonds were issued by the Company
to Tallmany in the principal amount of HK$28,800,000 (the “Principal
Amount”) pursuant to the terms set out in the Deed Poll dated 6
June 2007 (the “CB Terms”).

The holder of the Convertible Bonds was granted the rights to
redeem them before the maturity date on 5 June 2012 (the “Maturity
Date”) upon the occurrence of one (or more) of the events of default
defined in Clause 10 of the terms and conditions of the Convertible
Bonds (the “Events of Default”). Under such terms, if one (or more)
of the Events of Default occurred, the holder of the Convertible
Bonds could by notice in writing to require the Company to redeem
the Convertible Bonds at 125% of the Principal Amount (the “Early
Redemption Amount”) whereupon the Early Redemption Amount
had to paid within 10 days of such notice being given.

During the year ended 31 March 2009, early redemption of the
Convertible Bonds was demanded by Tallmany on the basis of an
alleged breach of the Subscription Agreement. On 10 March 2009,
Tallmany issued proceedings against the Company in respect of such
alleged breach (the “High Court Action”). Details of the proceedings
were provided in the Company’s annual report 2009 (pages 10 to 13)
published on the GEM website on 26 June 2009.

Subsequently, Tallmany filed an application for summary judgement
(the “Summary Judgement”). This application was heard in the High
Court on 18 September 2009.

On 20 October 2009, the High Court handed down judgement in
favour of Tallmany and ordered the Company to pay to Tallmany the
sum of HK$36,000,000 plus interest. Subsequently, steps were taken
by the Company (jointly with a co-defendant) to appeal against the
Summary Judgement (the “Appeal”).

26.

31 March 2010 —E—ZF#=H=+—H

R ESRBAXSMTETR

RZZZLFMA=+H AQARARETEE
% ¥H /328,800,000 7T 2 A F AT B AT MR &
# ([ AT [% &% |) B Tallmany Enterprises Limited
([Tallmany ) X China Broadband Capital Partners,
LP.(TCBCl) eIz RME = ([ REHE ) -

R-ZZEZLFENANA  ARFBREBHAEZ
SR+ FERNANBZESBREBEAHE R A
B E EFER ) ATallmany2% T A £ £ 58 5
28,800,000/ T ([ A& S5 ]) Z AT R ES °

i 3% A= AT AR 75 6 SR e IR 1 5B 1016k BT S5 2
FR—R(KXZH)BHEMH(TEOEN])
AMBRESHAEAERRERIHAE T ——F
ANARR (TRIH B ) A2 ATE B Al R AR (E 55 o
RIBEBEGER  MBELE-R(HZFHE)ENSE
- AR E ARG AT ABEBEmEEMEK
RATIRAR S SR 2125% ([1RATAEE €5 )
BOAskES  RAEEDSESARERZ
BAE BT 108 ASA -

REBEE_ZTZNF=ZA=+—BILFE &ZER
5 78 12 [ iR B8 % © Tallmany 2 SK 2 Aif & [B] 7]
B ESR  R_ZFTZNLF=HF+H ' Talmany
MZEBAARNARIREEAEERF((BSAR
Frl) c BEAEERERFRZFHE  F2HAAH
R-ZEZNFEANA-ZTABHEREAZRAU
Z2_ETNFEFER(FI10E13H) °

BE1& - Tallmany2 2§ 5 #R ([ 5 #R 1)
B  ZERFERN_ZEENFNAATNABE
= EEBEITRRA ©

RZEZAFTAZ+TH BFERHAR
Tallmany B 5F + 3 #) < ZX A 7] [ Tallmany 3% 15/ 42
5736,000,000% JT A R A& o BEfg + AR AR
—ZHRAWEAKRZIEEN - 585 HRE
 EFF (T EFRD) -
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RRESERBRAXEMTETR (@)

26. Convertible Bonds and Embedded Financial Derivative  26.

(continued)

In December 2009, the Company entered into a settlement agreement
(the “Settlement Agreement”) with Tallmany and CBC. Under the
Settlement Agreement, the Company agreed to pay to Tallmany on or
before 31 December 2009 HK$36,000,000 being the judgement sum
under the Summary Judgement, plus interest accrued at the judgement
rate from 10 March 2009 to the date of actual payment (the
“Settlement Amount”), as well as a sum of HK$1,650,000 in respect
of Tallmany’s legal costs against the Company arising from the High
Court Action and the Appeal (the “Legal Costs”). The Company
agreed to pay the Settlement Amount in full and final settlement of
the Company’s liabilities and obligations under the Summary
Judgement, the High Court Action, the Subscription Agreement and
the CB Terms. The Settlement Agreement further provided that the
Appeal by the Company as co-defendant be withdrawn.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the payment obligations of
the Company under the Settlement Agreement including the
Settlement Amount in the total amount of HK$38,324,000 together
with the said Legal Costs in the sum of HK$1,650,000 were paid and
performed in full. Pursuant to the terms of the Settlement
Agreement, the High Court made an order to, inter alia, formally
dismiss the Company’s Appeal on 22 January 2010.

Following the settlement of the Company’s above-mentioned
payment obligations, the Company’s liabilities and obligations under
the Summary Judgement, the High Court Action, the Subscription
Agreement and the CB Terms were fully and finally settled.
Accordingly, the liability and the derivative components of convertible
bonds which had been recognised as current liabilities were
derecognised. During the year ended 31 March 2010, a gain on
derecognition of convertible bonds of HK$5,446,000 and a fair value
loss on derivative component of convertible bonds of HK$1,654,000
was recognised in the consolidated income statement. In addition,
the interest and the Legal Costs of HK$3,974,000 in total were charged
to other expenses in the consolidated income statement for the year
ended 31 March 2010.
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RZFZNF+Z A - 427 ElTallmany & CBC
SIS AR R ([ R k) o BIBFE R
AARRBERZZEZNFTZA=+—Hz
A I8 Tallmany 37 {5 36,000,000 7% 7t ( BN 1R 4% 5 5
HRZHREGHE)  MER=_ZTZTAF=A+
BEEB I B 81 BRIR AT R 8 25
B(([MfE£E]) » WA KTalmany#t ¥ 48 2 & &Y
= 5 Abr A & L EFFTE & 2 A B 1,650,000
TL([AE]) s ARRRAEE2HI MBS
ARBEBHARRRESHR - RS ERF
A RERERERATRRESEKETZE
BEREE - MiEHRE—TTEEBARRIE
BERWEEAZ EFTURE -

REE-Z-—FFE=A=+—RHItFE AR
RIDBH S ML ETAMERE THONRET
BIETR S 584 $£38324,0007 7T A K it
FA % 1,650,000 7T  BIR MR Bk 2 &K - =
EERER _E—ZEF—F _+_HES(EH
BIE) EXNHESEARE 2 £5F °

REBITARR LMNREEE NRRRES
Hk BEERFA  RBERERATBRRES
BRBTZABEREACR2EARREEH -
It ERARDEEZAIBRREFZEABK
METABDERBEER REE-_T—TF
“A=+—BLEE  BHEBERUTRRESZ
Ui #%5,446,000/8 7T - AJREFITETEHH
ZAF(BEEIE1,6540008 TE RGAIBEER
FRER o N - FI B RIAE S ££3,974,0007% 7T
EREBE_ZT—ZTF-_A=1+t—HULEFEZH
EEERTPHEMALZIESH -
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26. Convertible Bonds and Embedded Financial Derivative 26. SR EHEHBARXLHTETR (&)
(continued)

The movements in the liability and derivative components of the ARBREFZBERITETARLINFERN 2 &
Convertible Bonds during the year are as follows: AT -
2010 —E_—EE
Liability Derivative
component component Total
aE&%s TEIENS “Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2009 RZZEZNFHA—H 36,000 3,792 39,792
Fair value loss recognised during FRERZ N TEE
the year B — 1,654 1,654
Derecognised during the year F B e R (36,000) (5,446) (41,446)
At 31 March 2010 RZE—ZTF=A=+—H = = =
2009 —ZEZNF
Liability Derivative
component component Total
BfEHD TEITEHS et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2008 ﬁé:gg/\iﬂ H—RH 36,000 8,619 44,619
Fair value gain recognised during FRIER FEE
the year & = (4,827) (4,827)
At 31 March 2009 RZZEZThF=A=+—H 36,000 3,792 39,792
27. Share Capital 27. Bx&
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
Shares igni) —E-ZF “ZEThF
FET TR
Authorised: JETE ¢
2,500,000,000 (2009: 2,500,000,000) H&E{EOJO‘}%EZ AR
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 2,500,000,0000% (ZZZ L4
2,500,000,0000% ) 250,000 250,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE -
752,955,000 (2009: 597,675,000) BREEO. 10/;§TI:Z - 3E A
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 752,955,000 (ZZ T N4F ¢
597,675,0004% ) 75,295 59,767
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27. Share Capital (continued)

A summary of the transactions in the Company’s issued share capital
during the year is as follows:

27. &

(%)

FRETZARASRTRARHBENT :

Number of Share
shares in Issued premium
issue capital account
21T 2 Bz 10 Total
nE= 4= TRA i (B AR BEE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BaE FAT FHET FHET
At 1 April 2008 RZZEZNF
MmA—H 597,275,000 59,727 348,808 408,535
Share options exercised 1T{E BB R A (a) 400,000 40 126 166
At 31 March 2009 and RZZEThF
1 April 2009 —A=+—8H
EZZTNF
MmA—H 597,675,000 59,767 348,934 408,701
Issue of shares EITR D (@ 150,000,000 15,000 22,500 37,500
Share options exercised 1715 B IR 4 (b) 5,280,000 528 321 849
Transfer of share option reserve I IR T (R I
on the exercised share options B R A (b) — — 566 566
155,280,000 15,528 23,387 38,915
Share issue expenses A& 5 24T X — = (389) (389)
At 31 March 2010 RZE—FF
=A=+—8H 752,955,000 75,295 371,932 447,227
Notes: P &

On 2 December 2009, the Company entered into a share placing agreement
with a third party in respect of the subscription of 150,000,000 new
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each at a price of HK$0.25 per share. The
subscription was completed on 30 December 2009. The premium on the
issue of shares, amounted to approximately HK$22,500,000 (before share
issue expenses of HK$389,000) was credited to the Company’s share
premium account.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the subscription rights attaching to
700,000 and 4,580,000 share options were exercised at subscription prices
of HK$0.10 and HK$0.17 per share, respectively, resulting in the issuance of
5,280,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each for a total cash consideration,
before the related expenses, of approximately HK$849,000. Upon the share
options being exercised, HK$566,000 was transferred from the share option
reserve to the share premium account.

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the subscription rights attaching to
200,000 and 200,000 share options were exercised at subscription prices of
HK$0.41 and HK$0.417 per share, respectively, resulting in the issuance of
400,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each for a total cash consideration,
before the related expenses, of approximately HK$166,000.

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option schemes are included in note

28 to

the financial statements.
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(@)

(b)

RZBBEANFE+-A=-H ARAIE—EE
=AM EE RS - LERR025E L 2B
1% 3R 18 150,000,000 f% & A% I {E0.107% 7T 2 31 &
BR - RBR-_ZTTZANFT_A=THREK
AT IR A 2 4 (B #922,500,000 7% 7T (30 & A% (2
%égﬁﬁ?zssaoooi%i:ﬁﬁ)E%H@S/AETZH&@
mER o

BE_ZT-ZTHE=-A=+-"HIEHFE"
700,000 15 }4,580,00017 B8 B # FT i REEH#EE
2RI AR EEFA010B T R0A7THETLITHE
& 55,280,000 % FAXEI{E0.1078 o 2 L @& -
FEMBRAERIF S AT+ bASIR & X {8 49849,000
FEIL AT o BEIREREITE R 0 566,000 T B
IBEREREERERDHER -

BE_ZTZTZNF=_A=+t—"HLFE"
200,0001% % 200,00017 % A% # AT fi AR EE#E B 5
A A R BB & IR041 78 T 204178 TTITE
38 37400,000 A% & A% H {H0.1078 T 2 i@ A%
MR AT - A48 £ K {8 4166,000
PETLEEAT o

BB IR A
AARIZERENEFBRRT B REN
5128 °
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bjf 75 3R 3% Mt 5F (#0)

Share Option Schemes

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. The Company’s
original share option scheme which was approved by the
shareholders on 7 March 2000 (the “Old Scheme”) was terminated
and replaced by a new share option scheme approved by the
shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 9 April 2002 (the “New Scheme”). The options granted
under the Old Scheme remain exercisable within their respective
exercise periods.

(a)

(b)

Old Scheme

The Old Scheme became effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on the listing of the Company’s shares on GEM of
the Exchange on 28 March 2000. Eligible participants of the
Old Scheme include the Company’s Directors and employees of
the Group. Under the Old Scheme, the Board was authorised,
at its absolute discretion, to grant options to the Company’s
Directors and employees of the Group to subscribe for ordinary
shares of the Company. The exercise period of the options
granted is determinable by the Directors, and commences after
a certain vesting period and ends in any event not later than 10
years from the respective date when the share options are
granted, subject to the provisions for early termination thereof.

New Scheme

The New Scheme became effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on 23 April 2002. Eligible participants of the New
Scheme include all Directors and employees of the Group,
suppliers, customers, consultants who provided services to the
Group, shareholders of the subsidiaries of the Group and joint
venture partners. Under the New Scheme, the Directors may, at
their sole discretion, grant to any eligible participants options
to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company at the highest
of (i) the closing price of shares of the Company on GEM as
stated in the Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of
the offer of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the shares of
the Company on GEM as stated in the Exchange’s daily
guotation sheets for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of the offer of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company’s share. The offer of a grant of options
may be accepted within 21 days from the date of the offer. A
nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the
grant of an option. The exercise period of the options granted
is determinable by the Directors, and commences after a certain
vesting period and ends in any event not later than 10 years
from the respective date when the share options are granted,
subject to the provisions for early termination thereof.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 25 July
2006 (the “AGM"), an ordinary resolution was passed by the
shareholders to approve the refreshing of the 10% general
limit on the grant of share options under the New Scheme.

28.

31 March 2010 —E—ZF#=H=+—H

ARz #EaT &

ARARBBRESS  EESBRERYH A
SEADKEELERMZEERZEE - K
RR-ZZEEZRF=ALAYEZERRRERE
st (&3 ) ER-ZEZ WA NH
BITZARRRBRERFRIAEG LR IERARRH
2B RE R &) ([#raT 8l ) B - RIFER
RO ZBREDARBBIITERAITE

(@) =&

E8g —ETTFE=_A-_t+/N\BAXR
AR RN MRIER EMREER - &
HI10F - BEFfSIZ A ERZEERER
RAEERAKERE - REETE
ESoeRRELENBREAARRQA
EERAKERERMBEE  URB
ARABZERBB - IR BREZTE
HRAEFETE  XRETHBHRHA
we REEFABERTHBEARNSEBE
HEE AR B EIEEH10F B - HEARIR
ATAR LB 2 AR TFT AR IR -

(b) FEtEl

g g —TE_FWNA-_+=HH
AR AHI0F -« FHt8l oA BEKRE
HEREASBEMEESERIES - #HE
BmBP - AAEEIRERSE ZERM -
AEENBRAAIZERERAELEE
o BREFHAE EFNE2ERBRE
MEREERDEERDERE IR
WRELNRTEBSEBIMEARESR L
Frol A A R R (5 T B AR 2 T (B (i)
SEDZHERBBHATAMARS B
FHBERLEMIARRRGERIZEIR
Z W TE  Ri)AA TR EEZ
BR(AERERE)RBAQRZERE
e ZEMBELEREZENCHRAZY
BHIEE21 B A - AR T ERERE
TRRBRNREIVETT - TR HERE
TEHREESET TRETEES
%R RETABLTREANRSH
R EHEREB R0 FEE R - A
SRR IE Z TR AR o

EXARAR_ZZRFLA-_+HARAE
TZBERBFAS ([RRBFKRE)) £
BRBBE-BEBRER  HWEEHR
BT EIR N BREZ10% —RLER -

sengeransn —2-2455 103



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bjf %5 3R 3% Mt 5 (@)

31 March 2010 —E—ZFF=H=+—FH

28. Share Option Schemes (continued)

(b) New Scheme (continued)

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the New
Scheme is an amount equivalent to 10% of the shares of the

Company in issue as at the date of the AGM.

The maximum number of shares to be allotted and issued upon
the exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the New Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 30% of
the relevant class of shares of the Company in issue from time
to time.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the Old Scheme
during the year:

28. FRBRHESTEI (&)

et & (&)
RAREFHET KR L 2B BREET
M RETZRMNDER LA
HERBERRBFAGRTEAZA
RAEIEEITRAD 210% °

(b)

AR 35 0 T 8 K 7 5% (4 L o A A
SHEIFTR L R FITE A M ARET
EzBREETEMBTRERETLZ
Bh&eHE  AATEBEBTHREH
T2 AR RAB R 230% °

AL AE TR A AR SN
RARELRENER -

FA-BRBEFEZHAITEBBIENT

2010 2009
—E-EF —ETAF
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price  Number of exercise price  Number of
hn#E 15 options e options
TEE BREXKE TEE BREHE
HK$ per share ‘000  HKS$ per share ‘000
B (ER) T BT (FR) F1n
At beginning of year and RET R
at 31 March R=A=+—H 0.40 25,365 0.40 25,365
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options under RBEIR - REBEEFE 2 MARTEBRIEZ
the Old Scheme outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are TEERITEARLOT :

as follows:
2010
—E-BF
Number of options Exercise price*
‘000 HK$ per share
BREHE TREE*
F14 BT (ER)
25,365 0.40
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28. Share Option Schemes (continued)

31 March 2010 —E—ZF#=H=+—H

28. FRBRHESTEI (&)

Exercise period
1T EAR

22 August 2001 to 21 August 2011
2T —FN\A=Z+=ZHE

2009
—EZNF
Number of options Exercise price*
‘000 HK$ per share
fERES B TTiE(E*
F15 Bt (8k)
25,365 0.40
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in case of

rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share

capital.

The following share options were outstanding under the New

Scheme during the year:

—2——%# \A=+—A

© BT B AR N BT RAR
RBAS LR H T IABE -

FA - RBEHAEZHAITEBBAENDT

2010 2009
—E-EF —ZETNF
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price  Number of exercise price  Number of
T3 options NS options
TEE BREHE TEE BRESE
HK$ per share ‘000  HK$ per share ‘000
BT (ER) T BTt (8R) F15
At beginning of year REW) 0.355 36,430 0.318 22,230
Granted during the year FAET 0.657 8,500 0.410 14,800
Exercised during the year FRITE 0.161 (5,280) 0.414 (400)
Forfeited during the year F R U 0.806 (2,030) 0.170 (200)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 0.426 37,620 0.355 36,430
The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share MEFNEITE 2 BAREM 5 - 207768 B Bz hntE

options exercised during the year was HK$0.661 (2009: HK$0.68).

I RR(E R0661E L (ZEZILF : 0688 7T) ©
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28. Share Option Schemes (continued) 28. FERRHESTEI (@)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options RIEHR - BB E 2 A ARTTEBREZ
outstanding under the New Scheme as at the end of the reporting TERERITERRAT

period are as follows:

2010
=F-FF
Number of options Exercise price*
‘000 HK$ per share
BREHE TREE Exercise period
+ 5 B (8R) TR
800 0.260 22 May 2002 to 21 May 2012

“EE_FHA-+-HZE

—E--—HFRA=Z+—H

1,150 0.100 26 March 2004 to 25 March 2014
—EENF=A=-+<HZE

—2-MFE=A=+&A

2,800 0.170 10 May 2006 to 9 May 2016
“EEXRFRATHE

“E-R"FRANA

2,000 0.600 2 January 2008 to 1 January 2018

—EEN\F—-—H=-HZE

—E-N\F—-A—H

14,200 0.410 3 April 2008 to 2 April 2018
—EEN\FNB=HE

—E-NFWA=H

2,000 0.100 24 June 2005 to 23 June 2015
—EZRFARA-THMAZE

—E-RFARA=T=H

1,000 0.380 29 June 2006 to 28 June 2016
—EEREARAZTNAEZE

—E-REXRAZ=TNH

5,000 0.396 1 October 2008 to 5 July 2017
ZEENF+A-HE

—E-tFtAAA

200 0.417 3 June 2008 to 2 June 2018
—EENFERA=BZE

—E-NFARAZH

7,970 0.660 9 February 2010 to 8 February 2020
—E-ZEF-_ANHZE

—E-EFZANA

500 0.610 11 March 2010 to 10 March 2020
—E-ZBF=ZRA+—HZE
—E-TF=A+H

37,620
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28. Share Option Schemes (continued) 28. FERRHESTEI (@)

2009

—EZNF

Number of options Exercise price*
‘000 HK$ per share

FERRE 2 TR E Exercise period

T4 Bt (8) TR
800 0.260 22 May 2002 to 21 May 2012

—EE_FRAA-_+-H=E

—E——_F#FAA-_+—H

1,850 0.100 26 March 2004 to 25 March 2014
—EENFE=F -+ HE

—E—NMF=A=-+HH

7,380 0.170 10 May 2006 to 9 May 2016
—EERFRATHE

—E—R"FRANH

1,500 0.878 23 November 2007 to 22 November 2017

—ETE+F+—A=-+=HZE
—T—t+F+—HA=+=H

2,500 0.600 2 January 2008 to 1 January 2018
—EENE-HAZHE

—E-N\¥—H—H

14,200 0.410 3 April 2008 to 2 April 2018

—EEN\FMNA=HZE

- NA\FMNA=H

2,000 0.100 24 June 2005 to 23 June 2015
—ETRFAARZ AR

—E—RAFAA=-+=H

1,000 0.380 29 June 2006 to 28 June 2016
“EEAEAASTARE

—2-AEAAZTAR

5,000 0.396 1 October 2008 to 5 July 2017
—EENFTH-HZE

—E—t+tFtAAH

200 0.417 3 June 2008 to 2 June 2018
—EZENFESA=ZHZE
—ET-N\FXAZH
36,430
@ The exercise prices of the share options are subject to adjustments in case of * BERRREATE BRI AR R AR AL A B AT AR
rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital. AIRAR EMBEL S T ARE -
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28.

Share Option Schemes (continued)

The fair value of share options granted during the year was estimated
at HK$3,740,000 (2009: HK$3,986,000), of which share option
expenses of HK$976,000 (2009: HK$2,711,000) were recognised in
the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 March
2010. Including the share options granted in prior years, a total
equity-settled share option expense of HK$2,028,000 (2009:
HK$4,089,000) was recognised in the consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 March 2010.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year
was estimated as at the date of grant, with reference to the valuation
performed by Grant Sherman Appraisal Limited, an independent firm
of professionally qualified valuers, using a binomial model, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

28.

RERR #ET B (&)

FAE L 2 BRE QT EE 5T A3,740,0007%8
T(ZZZNE : 3986000/87T) ' HBAREE
— T TE-A=-+—HIFEEZHRABRR
) R B8 B AE BT 2 976,000/ TL (— T N4
2,711,000 7C) ° s RN BAEFER D ZER
B REBEE-_ZT-ZTF-_A=+—HIFEZ
REBERANERNRSEEZBERERS A
12,028,000/ 7T (ZZZ N 14,089,000/ 7T) ©

FAMREAEREEZBRENRTFER
T2ERBHGEERARA(—HBLEEEE
RIGEMEBA) ET2EERER ZBARA
REHBBETH L hZFHERE
MR R AR o TRINEZBEA BB A
AR

2010 2009
—E-2F —EThE
Dividend yield (%) AR B (%) 0 0

T8 5K 18 (%)
JEE 2.3 1 (%)
B R F R (%)

Expected volatility (%)

Historical volatility (%)

Risk-free interest rate (%)

Weighted average share price (HK$ per share)

ANt R fE (BT &)

109.58-116.43
109.58-116.43
2.697-2.778
0.61-0.66

134.81-160.08
134.81-160.08
2.656-3.153
0.38-0.415

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may not necessarily be
the actual outcome.

For equity-settled share-based payments with parties other than
employees, the Group has rebutted the presumption that the fair
values of the services received can be estimated reliably as in the
opinion of the Directors, the fair value of the services cannot be
reliably measured. Accordingly, the Group measured the services
received from these parties, with reference to the fair values of the
share options granted using the binomial model, at the date these
parties rendered related services to the Group.

No other feature of the share options granted was incorporated into
the measurement of fair value.

The 5,280,000 share options exercised during the year resulted in the
issue of 5,280,000 ordinary shares of the Company, an addition of
issued share capital of HK$528,000 and share premium of
approximately HK$321,000 (before related expenses), as further
detailed in note 27 to the financial statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 25,365,000 and
37,620,000 share options outstanding under the Old Scheme and the
New Scheme, respectively. The exercise in full of the outstanding share
options would, under the present capital structure of the Company,
result in the issue of 62,985,000 additional ordinary shares of the
Company and additional share capital of HK$6,298,500 and share
premium of HK$19,877,100 (before related expenses).
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TEHIR 0B R R R AR R SL R IR A] BN R R B %
MR —E BERRGERA -

IEEIAINZ BT ) AR 2 48 5 S A RR D &
ER2NAME  AREETRBRBEZ A FE
B RBER] SEHET & - NEEE BT RS
ZRFEEEMEBESFZRR - Bl - A%
ERNEETAAEEREEEREER - 21
EA_AAEAGHZERLBREZ QA TE
B FERZEFREMAHES IR

SAEAFEERBEINAMKEDERENE M

[ 5,280,000 17 fE BX HEE 1T F - B BT
5,280,000 IR " A &) & @ A% - B BTk A 0
528,000 7% 7T K& A% 17 4 {8 %£9321,000 % 7T (0 Bx
HERXZA)  EHEE—THFBHARMBRE
B 5E27

RBERR » KRR ENBIRFTETHAE
25,365,00013 % 37,620,00017 i& 7 17 BE A% 4 o
BEARABIRREAORAEE  2ETEZSE
2R 17 {5 i AR 4 % 38 Bk 3% 1762,985,000 % AN A 7]
FBONE RS - BB AN AR 6,298,500 7T K A% 19 i
819,877,100/ 7t (FNBR AERA R 2 A ) ©



28. Share Option Schemes (continued)

29.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had an aggregate of 60,045,000 share options outstanding under
the Old Scheme and the New Scheme, the underlying shares in
respect of which represented approximately 7.94% of the Company’s

shares in issue as at that date.
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28. FRBRHESTEI (&)

RzEMBHRREMERR  RIBEEI L
st & - KRR A A 60,045,000 # K172
B EMP 2 BBERMDERARRERR
EITRN#)7.94% o

Reserves 29. fi#fE
(a) Group (@ #A%£H
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements AEBRAFEERNFEEEZEELRE
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the MEEBHBERANGEEREHRET -
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, a portion of BEFRBEEEENRETE  NEERF
the profits of the Group’s subsidiaries which are registered in A 2 B A R 2 2B A B R
the PRC has been transferred to the statutory reserve fund EEEREES  EERBEZERE
which is restricted as to use. PR 1]
(b) Company (b) ZA2AF
Share Share
premium option Accumulated
account reserve losses Total
RRER BREMRE Z5TE B st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2008 RZZZ\F
mH—H 348,808 2,533 (423,375) (72,034)
Loss and total comprehensive FREBAEZERY
expense for the year Fok — = (3,947) (3,947)
Share options exercised 1T BE RS 126 — — 126
Equity-settled share option LARE 55 45 55 2 B IR
arrangements ZHE = 4,089 — 4,089
Transfer of share option reserve B IS e g R At e o %
on the forfeited share options B IR FE (56 1 — (17) 17 —
At 31 March 2009 and R_ZTEZNF
1 April 2009 =A=+-BR
—TENEF
mHA—H 348,934 6,605 (427,305) (71,766)
Loss and total comprehensive FREBREERX
expense for the year k- = = (7,406) (7,406)
Issue of shares BTG 22,500 — — 22,500
Share options exercised 1715 BE PR 321 — — 321
Share issue expenses PR EEITR X (389) — — (389)
Equity-settled share option LAt 45 B 2 BB R
arrangements ZHE — 2,028 — 2,028
Transfer of share option reserve MR AT (R R
on the exercised share options B G o 566 (566) — —
Transfer of share option reserve B IS e 2 At e o %
on the forfeited share options B IR FE (26 1 — (699) 699 —
At 31 March 2010 RZZE—ZFF
=A=+—H 371,932 7,368 (434,012) (54,712)

RENEEZERERAT T —ZHFH
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29. Reserves (continued) 29. & (®)
(b) Company (continued) (b) ZA2AF(E)
(i) Under the Companies Law (2001 Revision) of the Cayman () WBERSBHESRAFE(ZZTEZT—F
Islands, the share premium account of the Company is BEIAR) « KRRz K7 iR ERA
distributable to its shareholders provided that immediately TR TR - R EREEZIRN

(ii)

(iii)

following the date on which the dividend is proposed to
be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay
off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

As at 31 March 2010, in the opinion of the Directors, the Company
had no reserves available for distribution to shareholders.

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payment
transactions in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The
amount will be transferred to the share premium account
when the related options are exercised, and will be
transferred to accumulated losses should the related options
expire or be forfeited.

30. Note to the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Major non-cash transaction

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group entered into a
finance lease arrangement in respect of property, plant and equipment
with a total capital value at the inception of the lease of HK$420,000.
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30.

(ii)

(iii)

REEHR  ARBIAREENA
BEBEBETIHANER -

R-E-ZF=A=+—H &=
RRANRRLEFERT DR TBIR -

BREFREERERLERRITE
BERENAFER FEARYH
BERME24FBUNBROH N RR S

BETHEK - RN ERABRE
BrERERERMER - &S
BINE B AR JE R S ORI 8
BERESE -

%Aiﬂﬁlllbgﬁmqﬁi

FTEFRERS
BE_ZTZENF=—HA=+—RHILFE  F&H

RYE - BB RRERT L —

B BEERHE

R E A 2 & A48 {E 5420,0007% 7T ©
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32
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Commitments 31. &iE
(a) Operating lease arrangements () REHEZH
The Group leases certain of its office properties and motor AEERBECEHELHREEE T
vehicles under operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties REMERAE - KEEEEBRMEZ
are negotiated for terms ranging from one to three years. HEHMA—FE=ZFIZE -
At 31 March 2010, the Group had total future minimum lease R-_ZE—ZFTF=ZA=Z+—8 ' A5£ER
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due B CEHE AR AT B
as follows: ZARREERENFEFENAT
2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$'000
—E-EF —FThF
FHE T FAT
Land and buildings: T REFE
Within one year —FR 3,246 4,415
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EFRF(BREREME) — 2,859
3,246 7,274
Motor vehicles: RE
Within one year —F R 20 22
3,266 7,296
(b) Capital commitments (b) EAREILE
At 31 March 2010, the Group did not have any significant RZZE—ZEF=A=+—H AEET
capital commitment (2009: HK$115,000), contracted but not EAMNERASERLAETEF2HEY
provided for, in respect of leasehold improvements for the EREZEFNERRBEZEARER
Group’s office premises. EAE(ZZEZNF - 11500087T) °
The Company did not have any significant commitments as at the RABRMEM R BEMBERAE(ZTE
end of the reporting period (2009: Nil). NE - &) o
Related Party Transactions 32. FRHAEALRS

Details of compensation for key management personnel, who are the
executive Directors of the Company, are included in note 8 to the
financial statements.

BERARARBRIATETZIIRERARL
FINEH B E N B SR S
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33. Financial Instruments by Category 33.

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

BEEANEI S Z&MTH
RBEHR  SRSRTAZREENT -

2010 Group
—E-FF rEH
Financial assets Financial assets
TREE at fair value
through
profit or loss —
Designated as
such upon initial
recognition Available-
R for-sale
®RABFIEES Loansand financial
B AFEEER receivables investments
REEHER ERK A E Total
BRECERERE FE W FhIE TRIRE 4z
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FTET FTET FERT
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE — — 796 796
Trade receivables JE W BR 3R — 15,970 — 15,970
Financial assets included in SFABNRIE - FT&
prepayments, deposits and R B A fE YR 2
other receivables E@MEE — 3,778 — 3,778
Equity investments at fair value 322 F(BEFIEE K&
through profit or loss FERRREIE 2
R E 3,236 — — 3,236
Due from Directors JEWES 2 RIB — 703 — 703
Pledged deposits BEEAER — 228 — 228
Cash and cash equivalents HeRAEEZEEY — 70,558 — 70,558
3,236 91,237 796 95,269
Financial liabilities Financial
Eal=iy=Li liabilities at
amortised
cost
R
A5 B
ZERmasE
HK$'000
FET
Trade payables T BRE X 3,374
Financial liabilities included in other payables, SFAEMEMNTZE BRI &
deposits received and accruals EitREZEHERE 4,833
Finance lease payables JE A B 75 7E & R I8 197
8,404
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33. BRENEISZEMTE (&)

RBEHRR - SREMIAZREENOT : (8B)

33. Financial Instruments by Category (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments
as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (continued)

2009 Group
ECY PR e
Financial assets Financial assets
SREE at fair value
through
profit or loss —
Designated as
such upon initial
recognition
) 75/\‘\%)]& Available-for-
B E S Loans and sale financial
BAFEBEIEE  receivables  investments
EBEERER BER K At & Total
BEZESREE FE W IE TRRE Fes
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T F& T FE T FET
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE — — 796 796
Trade receivables JiE U B 2K = 17,500 = 17,500
Financial assets included in FTATERRIE - FTe
prepayments, deposits and K E A fE WRIAE 2
other receivables TREE = 4,102 = 4,102
Equity investments at fair value RAFEESERR
through profit or loss EERREE
RERE 1,911 — — 1,911
Due from Directors EWESE 2 E — 856 — 856
Pledged deposits [SE7E RN = 156 — 156
Cash and cash equivalents HeMIREeEEY — 81,771 — 81,771
1,911 104,385 796 107,092
Financial liabilities Financial liabilities
SHMmEE at fair value
rofit ortlr;rs.;ugﬁ - F@na}ncial
P . liabilities at
Held for trading -
ZAFEEEYER —
RiEE iR R 8
BEZEBAR B AN 51) BR Total
(BERZH®) 2amaE Fe
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHE T FE T
Trade payables JE - BR 3K = 2,838 2,838
Financial liabilities included in other sEAE b EA FOE -
payables, deposits received and BEWET e RESTHIEZ
accruals TRBEE — 12,765 12,765
Finance lease payables JE 1~ BF 7578 & A — 327 327
Convertible bonds ] S (E 5 — 36,000 36,000
Derivative component of convertible bonds AT # k&5 2 474 T A5 3,792 — 3,792
3,792 51,930 55,722
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33. Financial Instruments by Category (continued) 33. BRSPS Z2EHMTITE (&)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments RIESRR  SEERMTACRIENT (&)

as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (continued)

Company ENNS
Financial assets 2010 2009
SREE —E-EF —EENEF
Loans and Loans and
receivables receivables
FE UL FRIE & U R E
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAET
Financial assets included in interests in subsidiaries T A B ARz 2 &R EE 19,323 30,602
Financial assets included in prepayments and s ATE 2008 & H Ath e U
other receivables HNBZEREE 143 141
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 3,533 11
22,999 30,754
Financial liabilities 2010
SHBAE —E-EF
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
1% 18 8
AR5 BR
ZEmEas
HK$'000
FHET
Financial liabilities included in accruals and ST AEET A R E M R FRIE 2
other payables SRAE 2,416
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33. Financial Instruments by Category (continued) 33. REMEISZEMIE @)
Financial liabilities 2009
TREE —EThE
Financial liabilities
at fair value
rofit ortrzjr;ug—h Fliclds]
P : liabilities at
Held for trading R -~
BT EEYIER oS
REBRER 1o g G
BREZEMBE AR Total
(RIERXZH%E) 2&mAaE 5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FHEIT FHEIT
Financial liabilities included in accruals and &+ A & &1 5018 & H i & 15 5%
other payables BHyemAaE — 2,961 2,961
Convertible bonds A i% & 5 — 36,000 36,000
Derivative component of convertible bonds — [ # & &% 2 74 T A5 3,792 — 3,792
3,792 38,961 42,753
34. Fair Value Hierarchy 3. ATEEFRREE

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and AEECAATEREBEEREESRITA

disclosing the fair value of financial instruments: ZNFEE:

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices F—E: RRAFEEXAEBERERMEZ
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets WE CREHE)FE 2 A TFEE -
or liabilities.

Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation techniques FE-E: REERDOFEZAFEEE M
for which all inputs which have a significant effect ZEMERDZMBH ABEEE
on the recorded fair value are observable, either SEEAUEREE  HEA
directly or indirectly. RAFEEAEEATXE -

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation techniques BH= REBEROGFEZATEEBE M
for which any inputs which have a significant effect ZEMERD 2 E [ AELIE
on the recorded fair value are not based on KB P R T 35 Bk (O AT B 82 A
observable market data (unobservable inputs). ABE)BE  THEARAFEEBE

BEREERTE -
As at 31 March 2010, the Group held the following financial RZZE—ZF=A=+—HB X5EHFEEUT
instruments measured at fair value: BATEEFEZEMIA
Level 1
E—E
HK$'000
FHET
Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss EAFEEIEMEESERRE CRERE 3,236

EEngzraRAs —2—=22558 115
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34. Fair Value Hierarchy (continued)

35.

As at 31 March 2010, the Group had no financial instruments
measured at fair value under Level 2 and Level 3.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, there were no transfers of
fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise convertible
bonds, and cash and short term deposits. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities, such
as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly
from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's financial instruments are short term in nature. The
carrying amounts of these financial instruments reported on the
statement of financial position approximate to their fair values,
and hence there is no interest rate risk exposure in relation
to these instruments.

Foreign currency risk

As most of the Group’s trading transactions, monetary assets and
liabilities are denominated in RMB and HK$, the impact of foreign
exchange exposure to the Group was minimal and there was no
significant adverse effect on normal operations. The Group does not
use derivative financial instruments to protect against the volatility
associated with foreign currency transactions and other financial
assets and liabilities created in the ordinary course of business. The
majority of the Group’s operating assets are located in Mainland
China and are denominated in RMB.
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AFFEEERRB (@)

RZE—ZF=ZA=+—H AXEEWEINSE
—ERF-EBATEEHFEZEHMIA-
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35.

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bt 75 3R 3% Mt 5 (#0)

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the
reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the RMB
exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
net loss and the Group’s equity (due to changes in the fair value of
monetary assets and liabilities).

35.

31 March 2010 —E—ZF#=H=+—H

Bt %5 ol B i 2 E AR IR BUSRE ()

HNERR ()
TRIIFIEA G KAt 7] 2R R 45 TR 0 R
T AREZFEARAKE 2 ERREEY
REARBER AL LRA LD 2 SUBE
(MR EREERE EHATBERD) -

Decrease/ Increase/
Increase/  (increase) in  (decrease) in
(decrease) in  the Group’s  the Group's
RMB rate loss after tax equity*
ARBER rEEZ rEEZ
3 MREi R EE REEIE N,
(F&#:) "L (Ehn) O ) *
% HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FE&T
2010 —E—EF
If Hong Kong dollar weakens BT HAREEE
against RMB 5% 613 613
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens B TE ARBEFAE
against RMB (5%) (613) (613)
Increase / Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) in (decrease) in
(decrease) in the Group’s the Group’s
RMB rate  profit after tax equity*
AR E = AEEZ rEEZ
RS BR7E 18 A I,
(F#A)  8m/ CRd) OB )*
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T T
2009 —ZETNF
If Hong Kong dollar weakens BT HEARERE
against RMB 5% 1,859 1,859
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens AT AREHE
against RMB (5%) (1,859) (1,859)

* Including accumulated losses

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy customers.
It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit
terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the
Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

* BIERFER

FERAR
AEBEENLZREBRIFNEPETRS °
REARENRE  EREEREERAET
RHMNBFPHAKBEERERRF - I &
SEMFEERRURIRGSR  MAKE 22
RERILTAERX -
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35. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise
cash and cash equivalents, pledged deposits, equity investments at
fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale financial
investments, other receivables and amounts due from Directors,
arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure
equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from trade receivables is disclosed in note 18 to the
financial statements.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk of non-availability of funds to meet all
contractual financial commitments as they fall due. The Group’s
objective is to maintain a prudent financial policy, to monitor liquidity
ratios against risk limits and to maintain a contingency plan for
funding to ensure that the Group maintains sufficient cash to meet
its liquidity requirements.

The Group finances its operations by internally generated cash flows.
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of

the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted
payments, was as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bjf 75 3} 3% Fff 5 (&)
31 March 2010 —F—F#=F=4+—H

35. MHEKREERBSERBE(E)

FERR (&)
rEBEteREE(ERASRRES
Y EERMER - MAFEEIIRRERGR
REZBRERE  AHHESRKRE - HibfE
WHRERERES 2FIR) NEERBREY S
BHOMES - ERASNZEFTAZKEE -

FRAASEREREREEZEERR 2 E—
SEECENNH B RRM T I8KE -

MENE

MBE & AR RIS E S IABN T 2 H
ZENMBEREZRR - AEE 2 BIRRRE
REZVBER  ZERRREEERRDES
- YRAEESEDE  BEAEEAR
ERRATNENERDESTFE -

AEEFBNNELE 2R ERAEEFRMAES -

RBEHR - ZEEREBESOARBRANKGFE
ZEBARZIBBEROT

Group rEE
On demand
or less than
12 months
RER
%A 1to5years Total
+=@A —ZRE Hs
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
2010 —E-EF
Trade payables JE < BR 3K 3,374 = 3,374
Other payables, deposits received HEapERE  BERET2 R
and accruals FEETRIE 4,833 = 4,833
Finance lease payables J& 11 B 75 78 & 5K IE 159 53 212
8,366 53 8,419

1 1 8 PROSTEN TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2010



35.
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Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(continued)

31 March 2010 —E—ZF#=H=+—H

35. MHEKREERBSERBE(E)

Liquidity risk (continued) RBESER (&)
Group rEE
On demand or
less than
12 months
BRE K
DN 1to 5 years Total
+=f@A —ERF et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHT
2009 —ETNF
Trade payables e BR R 2,838 — 2,838
Other payables, deposits received HipErZE - Bk R
and accruals FEETZRIA 12,765 — 12,765
Finance lease payables FEA{S B RS FR & 2k E 159 212 371
Convertible bonds R E A 36,000 — 36,000
51,762 212 51,974
Capital management EAEE

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it
in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject
to any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 March 2010 and 31 March 2009.

AEEBEAEE 2 T2 AN REARAEBERER
BLENERRIFZEARLE  AXFHEER
REERSGKRREE -

AEBEEHEREE A RBELEEMR R 2 8
BRHEBREERRISEMELFAE AEE
ALUBAAEYREIRE RS - MREEE
BARBTHBRARBTRABRERLEE - &%
BBEETERMIINARERRE HEZZT—F
FZA=+—BHR=_ZTTENAF=A=+—HL
FE - EAEBEZBE  BRSURRRILEZS -

EzngepRaRsn —2-2455 119



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) Bjf %5 3R 3% Mt 5 (@)

31 March 2010 —E—FF=H=+—f

35. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies  35.

(continued)

Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is total
borrowings divided by total equity. The gearing ratios as at the ends
of the reporting periods were as follows:

B %5 ol B i 2B E AR R BUSRE (1)

EXEE (8

AEERAEEABRLXEREEANER - &
ERBELXREELERERERTE - XR&

THRZEERBLEET ¢

Group REME
2010 2009
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E-ZF —ZETNEF
FERT FAET

Convertible bonds including the derivative AT ES @ BETE
component T EE» — 39,792
Finance lease payables JE 155 B 75 FE & IR 197 327
Total borrowings BEHRE 197 40,119
Total equity R 93,136 59,736
Gearing ratio BEBBELX 0.2% 67%
36. Approval of the Financial Statements 36. MBmTRZEZE

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the Board of Directors on 21 June 2010.
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